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Introduction 
 

Congratulations on taking a smart step towards a passing score. These notes will help 

solidify your understanding of the concepts and cover the most important elements of 

each topic quickly. 

 

Reading through these notes as much as possible is the best way to use them. 

 

When you can, read them outloud to yourself and explain things to yourself until you 

understand them. 

 

You’ll notice I didn’t include a bunch of formulas in these notes, and that’s 

because the point of these notes is to be able to read through them and 

understand concepts without having to do any calculations.  
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Part I: Framework, Overview, and Financial 
Statements 

 

1. Primary purpose of financial accounting and reporting 

a. Provides information to aid the decision making of users of the financial 

statements. Users use the information to: 

i. Make investment decisions 

ii. Make credit decisions (such as creditors) 

iii. Assess timing and amounts of cash flows 

iv. Assess economic resources and obligations 

2. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

a. GAAP addresses three main aspects of financial reporting: 

i. Recognition: when an item is recorded on financial statements 

ii. Measurement: how an item is recorded on financial statements 

iii. Disclosure: disclosing anything not on the financial statements 

3. Organizations 

a. FASB 

i. FASB is a private sector body that establishes GAAP 

ii. There are 7 full time members 

iii. The mission is to improve the usefulness of financial reporting, 

address deficiencies, and promote international convergence 

b. Standard Setting Process: 

i. First a project gets added to the agenda 

ii. Second, they conduct research and issues a discussion 

memorandum 

iii. Third, they hold public hearings on the topic 

iv. Fourth, they evaluate research and comments from interested 

parties and then issue a Exposure Draft, this is the first version of 

the new standard 
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v. Fifth, they solicit additional comments and modify the exposure 

draft if needed 

vi. Sixth, they finalize the new accounting guidance by a vote, they 

need a majority vote which is 4 out of the 7 FASB members. If 

approved, they issue the new standard as an Accounting Standard 

Update (ASU) 

c. Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) 

i. Appoints board members and advisory councils, ensures funding, 

and exercises oversight 

d. Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council (FASAC) 

i. This group advises the FASB on current and possible new agenda 

items, and helps with the formation of task forces for certain issues 

e. Emerging Task Force (EITF) provides implementation guidance within 

GAAP 

f. SEC 

i. SEC was formed by Congress in the 1933 Act 

ii. SEC had authority to establish GAAP, but they delegated it to the 

private sector, FASB 

iii. The SEC has enforcement authority 

g. AICPA 

i. Professional organization for practicing CPAs 

ii. They have substantial influence on the standard setting process 

h. Two Types of GAAP 

i. Authoritative 

1. This includes the FASB ASCs (Accounting Standards 

Codification) 

a. The codification is a compilation of pronouncements 

issued by FASB, APB, and CAP 

2. SEC guidance is considered authoritative for public 

companies 

ii. Non-authoritative 
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1. FASB Concepts, AICPA issue papers, IFRS 

4. Accrual Accounting 

a. Accrued and Deferred Revenue 

i. When cash is received before the revenue is actually earned, this is 

deferred revenue 

1. Example is when a customer buys a gift card- they’ve given 

the company money but the company hasn’t earned it yet- 

this is a liability to the company 

ii. When revenue is earned before cash is received, this is accrued 

revenue (accounts receivable)- this is an asset to the company 

1. Example is a customer buying items on credit- the company 

has given the customer the merchandise, but the company 

has not received actual cash yet 

b. Accrued and Deferred Expenses 

i. When cash is paid before expense is incurred, this is a deferred 

expense and is an asset to the company 

1. Example is prepaid rent or prepaid insurance 

ii. When an expense is incurred before cash is paid, this is an accrued 

expense and is a liability to the company 

1. Example is salaries payable- employees are working for two 

weeks before they are paid, so the company books ‘salaries 

payable’ 

5. Financial Statements 

a. Income Statement 

i. The income statement reports accrual-based performance over a 

period of time- usually the fiscal year 

b. Statement of Comprehensive Income 

i. This reports non-owner changes to equity over a period of time- 

usually the fiscal year. Main elements are: 

1. Unrealized gains/losses on investments in available-for-sale 

(AFS) securities 
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2. Certain pension adjustments 

3. Foreign currency translation adjustments 

4. Certain hedge accounting adjustments 

c. Balance Sheet 

i. The balance sheet reports economic resources and obligations as 

of a specific date. 

1. Assets are presented in order of liquidity (cash at the top) 

2. Liabilities are presented in order of maturity 

3. There is a current and long-term section 

ii. Remember, income statement shows a period of time, such as 

January 1 to December 31, but the balance sheet is just showing 

what a company has as of a certain date, usually December 31 

d. Statement of Stockholders’ Equity 

i. This reports the changes related to owners’ equity over a period of 

time 

e. Statement of Cash Flows 

i. Reports changes in cash over a period of time 

ii. There are 3 sections of a cash flow statement 

1. Operating- cash flows related to income statement items 

2. Investing- cash flows related to long-term assets and 

investments 

3. Financing- cash flows related to liabilities and owners’ equity 

f. Footnotes and Auditor’s Opinion 

i. Footnotes capture information that isn’t contained in the financial 

statements 

ii. Auditor’s opinion is the opinion on whether the statements comply 

with GAAP 

6. Financial Accounting Codification 

a. The codification is basically a one-stop-shop of all GAAP sources 

b. The official name is the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 
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c. Updates to the codification are made through Accounting Standards 

Updates (ASU) 

d. Goals of the codification 

i. Simplify GAAP 

ii. Put all GAAP into one place 

iii. Make it easier to research issues 

iv. Reduce risk of noncompliance 

v. Facilitate the updating of GAAP 

vi. Assist with IFRS convergence 

7. Conceptual Framework 

a. The conceptual framework is the “guiding principles” of GAAP 

b. The main idea behind the objectives of the framework is decision 

usefulness 

c. There are two primary qualitative characteristics 

i. Faithful Representation 

1. Completeness: Are all necessary facts included in the 

information 

2. Neutral: The information is free from bias 

3. Free from error: Info doesn’t contain any material errors 

ii. Relevance 

1. Predictive value: Does it help make predictions about future 

events 

2. Confirmatory value: Does it provide information about earlier 

expectations or predictions 

3. Material: Does the information matter to the user 

d. There are four enhancing characteristics 

i. Comparability: Can the info be used to compare to other companies 

in the same industry 

ii. Verifiability: Independent observers would reach the same 

conclusion 

iii. Timeliness: The info is recent enough to make a decision with 
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iv. Understandability: A user with a reasonable understanding of 

business can understand and draw conclusions from the 

information 

8. Fair Value 

a. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received if you sell an 

asset in an active market 

i. Assumptions: 

1. Transaction takes place in the most advantageous market 

available to the entity that maximizes the selling price 

2. Buyer/seller are willing and able to do business, and are 

each acting in their own best interest 

3. Not compelled to enter the transaction- they both act 

independently 

4. Highest and best use considers what is: 

a. Physically possible 

b. Legally permissible 

c. Financially feasible 

b. Fair value recognition and measurement 

i. Approaches for determining fair value 

1. Market approach: Prices generated by real market 

transactions for identical or similar items 

2. Income approach: Discounts future amounts to current value 

3. Cost approach: Uses current amount required to replace the 

service value of an existing asset 

ii. Fair value option is not available for: 

1. Investments in entities that will be consolidated 

2. Obligations or assets related to pension or other employee-

oriented plans 

3. Lease-related financial assets or liabilities 

4. Demand deposits of financial institutions 

5. Instruments that are components of shareholders’ equity 
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iii. Fair value election dates 

1. Fair value can be elected only when: 

a. The item is first recognized (when the company 

acquires it) 

b. When an eligible firm commitment occurs 

c. When the accounting treatment of an investment in 

another entity changes 

2. Fair value can be applied on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis 

a. Does not have to be applied to all instruments issued 

or acquired in a single transaction 

b. Must be applied to an entire instrument- not just to 

specific elements of an instrument 

3. Fair value accounting at eligible election date 

a. Determine carrying value (CV) 

b. Determine fair value (FV) 

c. Determine difference between CV and FV 

d. Recognize difference as 

i. A write up or write down 

ii. Recognize increase (gain) or decrease (loss) in 

current income 

iv. Fair value inputs 

1. Inputs are assumptions and data that’s used to determine 

FV 

2. There are 

a. Observable inputs: derived from market data 

independent of the entity- example is stock exchange 

which gives real-time market prices for stocks 

b. Unobservable inputs: Value is based on the entity’s 

assumptions based on the best information they have 

(essentially their best guess) 
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3. Levels of the fair value hierarchy 

a. Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market for 

identical items 

i. This is the highest level and involves 

observable inputs- which are the most 

desirable 

b. Level 2: Observable inputs that don’t meet all 

requirements for Level 1 

i. Quoted prices in active markets for similar 

items 

ii. Quoted prices in markets that are not active 

1. Example of Level 2 is comparing 

recently sold homes that are similar to 

your house to come up with a value 

c. Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the item being 

valued 

i. Lowest level with the least desirable inputs 

ii. Usually based on the reporting firm’s internal 

data 

1. (best guess based on their own 

numbers) 

4. Disclosure requirements 

a. When fair value is used, disclosures are required: 

i. You must disclose the fair value at the 

reporting date 

ii. You must disclose the valuation techniques 

used to determine the FV 

iii. You must disclose the inputs used to 

determine FV 

iv. You must disclose which items the fair value 

option is applied to 
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v. Disclose the amounts of gains and losses 

associated with the fair value changes 

9. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

a. SEC Roles and Standard Setting 

i. SEC was established by Congress after 1929 stock market crash 

ii. SEC has highest legal authority to establish standards, but they 

delegated standard setting to the private sector, which is currently 

FASB 

iii. The SEC enforces compliance with GAAP 

1. They also enforce IFRS for foreign registrants 

iv. The purpose of enforcing compliance is to “promote efficient 

allocation of capital through open, orderly and fair securities 

markets 

b. Structure of the SEC 

i. Five commissioners appointed by the President of the United 

States 

ii. Four divisions 

1. Corporate finance: Oversees compliance, company filings 

are submitted to this division 

2. Enforcement: Investigates violations, makes 

recommendations for punishment 

3. Trading and Markets: Oversees the secondary markets and 

exchanges, brokers and dealers 

4. Investment Management: Oversees investment advisors and 

investment companies 

c. Pronouncments issued by SEC 

i. FRR: Financial Reporting Releases are formal pronouncements. 

They are the highest ranking authoritative source for public 

companies 

ii. SAB: Staff Accounting Bulletins are the SEC’s current position on 

technical issues 
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iii. AAER: Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases are reports 

that detail enforcement actions 

d. SEC reporting requirements 

i. Financial statements required for an IPO 

1. 2 years of balance sheets 

2. 3 years of income statements, statements of cash flow, and 

statements of shareholders’ equity 

ii. IPO process 

1. Issuer 

2. Under-writer 

3. Dealer 

4. Public 

iii. Securities Act of 1934 

1. Regulation S-X provides detailed guidance on reporting 

requirements 

a. Form 10-K is the annual filing 

i. The 10-K must be audited by an independent, 

registered auditor 

b. Form 10-Q is the quarterly filing 

i. The 10-Q is not audited, but is reviewed by an 

auditor 

ii. Disclosures in the 10-Q are not nearly as 

extensive as in the 10-K 

c. Form 8-K is for significant events 

10. General Purpose Financial Statements 

a. Balance Sheet 

i. Balance sheet is a statement of financial position measured at one 

point in time 

ii. Current assets 

1. These are assets that will be used within one year 

a. Example is cash, prepaid expenses, acc receivable 



 

13 
By Nate Rivers | Copyright © 2015 accounting101.org 

iii. Current liabilities 

1. Liabilities expected to be used within one year 

a. Example is accounts payable or accrued expenses 

iv. Non current assets and liabilities 

1. Any asset or liability not classified as current will be non-

current by default 

v. Equity accounts 

1. Contributed capital 

a. The amount contributed by owners such as common 

stock and preferred stock 

2. Retained earnings 

a. The amount of earnings retained by the company 

b. This is the cumulative net income less dividends paid 

b. Income Statement 

i. Revenues 

1. Revenue is increases in net assets from the primary 

business activities 

a. A company selling its products create revenue, the 

same company selling a used building is not revenue 

ii. Expenses 

1. Decreases in net assets from the primary business activities 

iii. Gains and losses 

1. Increases or decreases in net assets from incidental 

activities 

a. The company selling a used building creates a gain or 

loss, NOT revenue or expense 

c. Statement of Comprehensive Income 

i. Net income + Other Comprehensive Income = Comprehensive 

Income 

ii. “Other Comprehensive Income” items 

1. Unrealized gains or losses on AFS securities 
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2. Unrecognized gains or losses from pension costs 

3. Foreign currency translation adjustments 

4. Unrealized gains or losses from certain derivative 

transactions 

iii. Comprehensive income can be presented two ways: 

1. In combination with the income statement 

a. Other comprehensive income would be added just 

below ‘net income’ 

2. Or as a separate statement: You’d have the income 

statement and a separate statement of comprehensive 

income 

d. Statement of Changes in Equity 

i. This statement shows changes during the year for the following 

items: 

1. Common stock 

2. Preferred stock 

3. Additional paid-in-capital 

4. Retained earnings 

5. Treasury stock 

6. AOCI 

e. Statement of Cash Flows 

i. Statement of cash flows is to show the changes in cash during the 

period 

ii. Users want to know about a company’s ability to generate and 

control cash in order to asses the company’s ability to meet its 

obligations 

iii. Three types of cash flows 

1. Operating 

2. Investing 

3. Financing 

iv. Direct Method 
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1. The direct method ‘directly’ shows the amount of cash 

inflows and outflows from operations 

2. The operating section is separated into “cash inflows” and 

“cash outflows” 

v. Indirect Method 

1. The indirect method starts with net income and reconciles 

down to “net cash provided by operating activities” 

2. Most large companies use the indirect method 

f. Notes to the Financial Statements 

i. Disclosures are a key part of the financial statements 

ii. They provide info about assumptions and estimates 

iii. Managements’ Discussion and Analysis 

1. This is a required part for publicly held companies 

2. Discusses operations, liquidity, and capital resources 

iv. During times of price instability, a disclosure is required discussing 

the effects of the instability on the company’s business 

11. Ratios 

a. Liquidity/Solvency ratios: These ratios measure a firm’s efficiency and 

ability to meet obligations 

i. Working Capital: 

1. Current assets - current liabilities 

a. This measures the extent to which current assets can 

cover current liabilities 

ii. Current Ratio: 

1. Current assets / Current liabilities 

a. Put working capital in a ratio form 

iii. Acid or Quick Ratio: 

1. (Cash + AR + Marketable Securities) / Current liabilities 

a. This ratio uses the most liquid assets to measure the 

ability to meet obligations 

iv. Times Interest Earned Ratio: 
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1. (Net Income + Interest Expense +Income Tax Expense) / 

Interest Expense 

a. This measures the ability of current earnings to cover 

interest costs for the period 

v. Accounts Receivable Turnover: 

1. Net credit sales / Average AR 

vi. Number of days in AR: 

1. 365 / AR turnover 

a. This measures the average number of days it takes to 

collect receivables 

vii. Inventory turnover: 

1. Cost of goods sold / average inventory 

viii. Number of days in inventory: 

1. 365 / Inventory turnover 

a. This measures the average number of days inventory 

is sold or used 

b. Profitability and Equity ratios: These measure operations results and 

measure sources of equity 

i. Profit margin: 

1. Net Income / Sales 

a. This measures net profitability on sales 

ii. Return on assets: 

1. Net Income / Average Total Assets 

a. This measures the rate of return on total assets and 

how effectively total assets generate net income 

iii. Return on equity: 

1. Net income / Average common stockholders’ equity 

a. The measures the rate of earnings on common 

shareholders’ investment 

iv. Earnings per share: 
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1. (Net income - Preferred dividends) / Weighted avg common 

shares 

a. This measures the income per share of common 

stock 

v. Price to Earnings Ratio 

1. Stock price per share/ Earnings per share 

a. This measures the price of the stock relative to its 

earnings per share- this is an indicator of market 

value 

12. Special Purpose Frameworks 

a. There are other accounting frameworks besides GAAP that are used for 

different reasons by non-public businesses in the United States. There are 

millions of partnerships and sole proprietors who may use one of these 

other accounting frameworks for various reasons 

b. These other frameworks are known as OCBOA, “Other Comprehensive 

Basis of Accounting” 

i. The “OCBOAs” are: 

1. Cash basis 

2. Modified cash basis 

3. Income tax basis 

4. Regulatory basis 

5. Other basis if there’s substantial support 

c. Cash basis financial statements: 

i. These are based solely on cash receipts and cash spent 

1. If cash is received, that’s revenue 

2. If cash is spent, an expense is recognized 

ii. Cash basis is usually used by small, closely-held businesses such 

as sole proprietors 

d. Modified cash basis financial statements 

i. This is a combination of cash basis and accrual basis 

ii. Differences from cash basis include recognizing: 
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1. Inventory 

2. Fixed assets 

a. Recognizing depreciation or amortization 

3. Payables 

4. Accounts receivable 

5. Interest-bearing payables 

e. Income tax basis financial statements 

i. These are based on income tax rules 

1. The taxable amount is revenue 

2. The deductible amount is expense 

ii. Certain items are nontaxable and nondeductible: 

1. Interest from municipal bonds 

2. Life insurance premiums on company officers 

3. Fines 

f. “Other” Basis may include 

i. Reporting framework set by 

1. State insurance regulatory agency 

2. Public utility regulatory agency 

3. Certain statements required by a lender 

13. Personal Financial Statements 

a. These are prepared for individuals or families, and they are used for 

personal borrowing or financial planning, or even legal requirements 

b. Personal financial statements include: 

i. Required: Statement of financial position- basically a balance sheet 

ii. Statement of changes in net worth- this is often provided but isn’t 

required 

iii. There is no personal “income statement” or “statement of cash 

flows” 

c. The statement of financial position: 

i. Is prepared based on accrual accounting and fair value 

measurment 
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ii. Assets are reported at current fair values 

iii. Liabilities are reported at current amounts 

iv. Personal net worth = Assets - Liabilities 

14. Private Company Council 

a. The PCC works with FASB to makes certain standards more “useable” for 

private companies- the focus is relevance of information vs cost-benefit 

b. A few key difference applicable to private companies: 

i. Goodwill 

1. Goodwill is amortized over 10 years 

2. Entity must elect to apply goodwill at the reporting unit or 

entity level 

3. Goodwill should be tested for impairment when a triggering 

event occurs 

ii. Hedge accounting 

1. Rules are simplified for interest rate swaps 

2. Interest rate swap basically turns a variable-interest rate 

debt into fixed-rate debt 

3. The entity may assume 100% effectiveness if criteria is met, 

instead of rigorous testing for ineffectiveness 

iii. Intangibles 

1. Intangibles such as customer related or non-compete 

agreements are not required to be recognized separate from 

goodwill 

2. Intangibles that are separable such as copyrights are 

trademarks must be recognized separately 

iv. Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) 

1. In certain instances the relationship with lessors do not need 

to be evaluated as a VIE 

15. Liquidation Basis of Accounting 

a. This is used when a company is going to cease all activities 
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i. Assets are measured at the amount of cash they are expected to 

be sold for in liquidation 

ii. Liabilities are measured under normal GAAP 

iii. Expected costs to liquidate are accrued 

16. International Accounting Standards Board 

a. The IASB is like FASB in the United States- they come up with IFRS like 

the FASB creates GAAP, but the IASB does NOT have enforcement 

power, just like FASB does not have enforcement power 

i. Enforcement is the responsibility of the securities regulators in the 

respective national jurisdictions 

b. IFRS Foundation 

i. This is the parent of the IASB 

ii. It appoints the members of the IASB 

iii. Governed by trustees that serve 3-year terms 

iv. This is the “piece” of the IASB responsible for actually setting the 

standards 

c. IFRS Foundation Monitoring Board 

i. Trustees of the IFRS foundation are accountable to the Monitoring 

Board 

d. IFRS Interpretations Committee 

i. Similar to the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force 

e. IFRS Advisory Council 

i. They advise the IASB on the views of interested organization 

17. IASB Standards 

a. IFRS are more principle based than GAAP 

b. Much fewer rules, more judgment is required 

c. There is a specific standard for small and medium-sized entities (SMEs) 

i. Removes topics that are not relevant to SMEs 

ii. Simplifies measurement and disclosures 

d. The convergence of IFRS and GAAP is a hypothetical goal, but there’s no 

set timeline for convergence 
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18. IASB Framework 

a. The IASB framework is similar to the FASB’s framework 

b. Primary characteristics 

i. Faithful Representation 

1. Completeness 

2. Neutrality 

3. Free from error 

ii. Relevance 

1. Predictive value 

2. Confirmatory value 

3. Materiality 

c. IASB framework has 2 assumptions: 

i. That the accrual method is used 

ii. The entity is a going concern 

19. IFRS for SMEs 

a. IFRS, instead of having OCBOA frameworks or ‘personal financial 

statements’, they have ‘IFRS for Small & Medium Sized Enterprises 

(SMEs) 

b. IFRS for SMEs is just a simplified accounting framework 

c. What businesses use IFRS for SMEs? 

i. Any business that is not publicly traded but wants to produce 

general purpose financial statements 

1. A lender might require that a company produce financials 

d. IFRS for SMEs is NOT an “OCBOA 

i. But, for qualifying companies, IFRS for SMEs is considered GAAP 

e. A private US company might use IFRS for SMEs because it’s less costly 

and complicated than GAAP 

f. Major characteristics of IFRS for SMEs 

i. Disclosures for pensions and leases and other areas are simplified 

ii. LIFO is not allowed 
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iii. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are amortized over 10 

years 

iv. Depreciation is based on a components approach 

v. Reversal of impairment charges IS allowed 

vi. No disclosures for earnings per share 

20. Differences in IFRS and GAAP Financial Statements 

a. Balance sheet differences 

i. Under GAAP comparative periods (such as previous year) are NOT 

required unless the company is a SEC registrant 

ii. Under IFRS comparative periods are required in all instances 

b. Income Statement Differences 

i. Dividends per share must be disclosed on IFRS statements, it is 

NOT required by GAAP 

ii. Extraordinary gains or losses are allowed by GAAP, they are NOT 

allowed by IFRS 

c. Statement of Shareholders’ Equity Differences 

i. Under GAAP, changes in owners’ equity can be presented in the 

footnotes 

ii. Under IFRS, there must be a separate statement of changes in 

owners’ equity 

d. Statement of Comprehensive Income Differences 

i. Under GAAP, revaluation of PPE through OCI is NOT allowed 

ii. Under IFRS, revaluation of PPE through OCI is allowed 

e. Statement of Cash Flows Differences 

i. Interest paid can be operating OR financing under IFRS. It is only 

operating under GAAP 

ii. Interest received can be operating OR investing under IFRS, it is 

only operating under GAAP 

iii. Dividends received can be operating OR financing under IFRS, it is 

only operating under GAAP 
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iv. Dividends paid can be operating OR financing under IFRS, it is only 

financing under GAAP 
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Financial Statement Accounts 

 

1. Cash 

a. It’s most important to know what are considered cash & cash equivalents 

i. Examples of cash 

1. Cash 

2. Coins or currency 

3. Cash in bank 

4. Negotiable instruments like checks 

5. Money orders 

ii. Examples of cash equivalents 

1. US treasury bills 

2. Commercial paper 

3. Money market funds 

2. Bank Reconciliations 

a. This takes the ending bank balance and shows what makes up the 

difference to the book balance 

b. Simple reconciliation formula: 

i. Take the balance on the bank statement 

1. ADD: Deposits in transit 

2. ADD: Cash on hand 

3. LESS: Outstanding checks 

4. +/-: Errors made by the bank 

ii. EQUALS: the true ending cash balance 

3. Accounts Receivable 

a. AR is recorded at net realizable value on the balance sheet- the amount of 

cash the company expects to actually collect 

b. Items that reduce AR are sales discounts, sales returns, non collectible 

amounts 
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c. When a company offers discounts, the sales can be recorded under net or 

gross method 

i. Under gross method, when AR is recorded, the gross amount is 

shown, along with a journal entry for the discount 

ii. Under net method, AR is recorded with the discount already 

factored in 

d. Uncollectible AR 

i. There has to be some estimate of AR that won’t be collected, 

because not all AR will be collected realistically 

1. Direct write-off method 

a. This is rarely used and doesn’t conform to GAAP 

b. When the account becomes uncollectible, it is written 

off to bad debt expense and AR is reduced by the 

same amount 

2. Allowance method 

a. The allowance is a contra account to AR 

i. Income statement approach 

1. This approach estimates bad debt as a 

% of SALES, and it directly calculates 

the amount of bad debt expense 

ii. Balance sheet approach 

1. This approach estimates bad debt 

allowance as a % of AR instead of 

sales, and it directly calculates the 

ending balance of the allowance 

account 

e. Notes Receivable 

i. Notes receivable are more long-term and more formal than AR 

ii. There is an interest element, either: 

1. A stated rate 

2. Implicit rate 
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a. If there is no stated rate of interest, the note will be 

discounted at present value to get the present value 

of future cash flows 

iii. Impaired notes receivable 

1. A note receivable is impaired if the present value of future 

cash flows to be collected is less than the carrying value 

2. The difference is recorded as bad debt expense 

f. Sale of receivables 

i. Companies can sell or factor their receivables if they need to 

accelerate the collection of cash 

1. There are a set of conditions for the sale of receivables, if 

the “sale” does not meet the requirements, then the deal is 

not a sale, it is “secured borrowing” 

2. Criteria for an AR transfer to be considered a sale: 

a. The assets are isolated from the transferor 

b. The transferee is free to exchange the assets or is 

free to pledge or sell the assets 

c. There is no agreement where the transferor will be 

required to repurchase the assets 

i. Transferor is the one trying to sell their AR, 

such as Macy’s 

ii. The transferee is the party they are selling their 

AR to 

3. Factoring AR 

a. This is when a company “factors” their AR which 

basically means they receive a loan for the amount of 

AR 

i. They turn over their AR to a third party in 

exchange for cash, and they pay the third party 

a fee 
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ii. Then the third party collects payments from the 

customers on the AR 

b. There is factoring “with recourse” and “without 

recourse” 

i. With recourse means the transferor bears the 

costs of bad debt- so if customers don’t pay the 

transferor is the one losing that money 

ii. Without recourse means that the factor or third 

party has no recourse against the transferor. 

This is usually accounted for as a sale of 

receivables because there is no recourse 

against the transferor, even if the customers 

end up not paying the third party 

4. Assigning and pledging AR 

a. Assignment of AR is when a company assigns their 

AR as collateral for a loan 

i. the borrower must reclassify any assigned AR 

as “assigned AR” 

b. Pledging AR is the same as assignment of AR, but 

less formal. If there is pledged AR, there does need to 

be a footnote disclosure 

4. Inventory 

a. Inventory is always a current asset 

b. Shipping 

i. Free on board (FOB) destination means the “ownership”(and risk of 

loss) of the inventory doesn’t change until it reaches its destination 

(the buyer’s warehouse). The seller “owns” the inventory until it 

reaches the buyer 

ii. Free on board shipping point is the opposite: As soon as the 

inventory is shipped, the buyer now owns it and will include it in 

their inventory 
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c. Inventory costs- what items are included/excluded from the cost of 

inventory 

i. Included 

1. purchase returns 

2. freight-in (shipping costs to get the inventory to the 

warehouse) 

3. Sales tax on acquisition 

4. Insurance on transit 

ii. Excluded 

1. Freight out- this is a selling expense 

2. Interest on purchase - this is financing 

d. Periodic inventory system 

i. The company periodically physically counts all the inventory, then a 

value is assigned 

ii. Cost flow assumptions 

1. Specific identification- large items such as cars 

2. Weighted average- COGS / # of units for sale 

3. FIFO  

a. When prices are rising using FIFO, COGS is the 

lowest and provides the highest net income, also the 

highest ending inventory 

4. LIFO 

a. When prices are rising using LIFO, this gives the 

highest COGS and lowest net income, and lowest 

ending inventory 

e. Perpetual inventory system 

i. A perpetual system records the purchases and sales of inventory 

items as they occur- in other words a computer system that tracks 

inventory moving in and out. Physical counts still take place to 

verify the inventory 
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ii. FIFO: Costs are the same under both a perpetual and periodic 

system 

1. Lowest COGS, highest net income, highest ending inventory 

iii. LIFO: Under a perpetual system LIFO will have different inventory 

values than a period system because a cost is assigned after each 

sale 

1. Last item purchased is the first one sold 

a. Highest COGS, lowest net income, lowest ending 

inventory 

2. LIFO provides tax advantages because it causes lower net 

income 

3. LIFO liquidation is when the oldest layer of cost is reduced 

because more units were sold in the current year than 

purchased, which taps into the older “layers” of inventory 

f. Dollar Value LIFO 

i. This is using LIFO ‘pools’ to track inventory 

ii. Main point is that this uses a “conversion index” to determine 

inventory value for the LIFO layer added in the current year 

1. Conversion index is: 

a. Ending inventory in current year dollars / ending 

inventory in base year dollars 

i. You use that multiplier to convert current year 

prices to base year prices 

g. Lower of cost or market 

i. LCM is applied to inventory no matter what cost assumption is 

being used 

ii. If market price for the inventory is less than the cost on the books, 

the inventory is impaired and must be written down 

1. Market cost is the cost to go out and buy(replace) the same 

inventory today - usually. This is subject to a ceiling and floor 
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2. Ceiling value is net realizable value(NRV). This is the selling 

price less any costs to complete the inventory 

3. The “floor” is NRV less the normal profit margin 

4. To determine market value 

a. If replacement cost is between the ceiling and floor, 

then the market value is the replacement cost 

b. If the replacement cost is greater than the ceiling, 

then the market price is limited to the ceiling price 

c. If the replacement cost is less than the floor, then the 

market price is limited to the floor amount 

h. Gross margin method 

i. This is used to estimate COGS using gross margin 

ii. Sales - cost = margin 

iii. 100 - 70 = margin of 30 

1. Then you know that COGS is 70% of sales, and margin is 

30% 

2. You can use this to figure out these margin problems 

i. Retail Inventory Method 

i. This is used by retailers to estimate the cost of ending inventory 

ii. Basic steps 

1. Calculate ending inventory at retail prices 

2. Calculate the cost to retail ratio 

3. Apply cost to retail ratio to ending inventory at retail prices to 

get ending inventory at cost 

j. Inventory errors 

i. These are problems where they’ll say something like “purchases 

were overstated, what was the effect?” 

ii. You will see some of these on the test, the best approach is to write 

out the inventory equation and walk through the info in the question 

1. Inventory equation: 

a. Beg inventory 
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b. ADD: Purchases 

c. EQUALS: Goods available for sale 

d. LESS: Ending inventory 

e. EQUALS: Cost of goods sold 

k. Purchase commitments 

i. Companies will enter into agreements to purchase certain amounts 

of certain items, sometimes within a certain time period 

1. If the market price of an item subject to this kind of 

agreement goes down, the buyer might have to recognize a 

loss on the purchase commitment 

a. If the terms can be modified, then the potential loss 

can be disclosed in a footnote but doesn’t have to be 

recognized in the financials 

b. If the terms CANNOT be modified, then the loss is 

probable and must be accrued and recognized on the 

balance sheet 

l. IFRS inventory differences 

i. Under IFRS inventory is valued at lower of cost or NRV. GAAP is 

lower of cost or market 

ii. LIFO is NOT allowed at all under IFRS 

iii. Reversal of inventory write-downs IS allowed under IFRS. This is 

NOT allowed under GAAP 

5. Property, Plant, and Equipment 

a. PPE are assets that produce revenue for the business, and so their cost is 

allocated over time by depreciation 

b. Categories 

i. Buildings 

ii. Machinery and Equipment 

iii. Land- only asset that is NOT depreciated 

iv. Land improvements- these have a finite life so they are depreciable 
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v. Natural resources- oil well, coal mine. Instead of “depreciation”, 

these assets are “depleted”. 

c. Capitalized costs 

i. These are costs that included in the asset account instead of being 

expensed. There are basically two categories: 

1. Costs to get the asset ready to use 

a. Usually any cost necessary to bring the asset to its 

intended use and location, so it would include: sales 

tax, testing costs, shipping costs, etc 

2. Costs to extend the asset’s useful life or increase 

productivity 

ii. If a cost just maintains the asset, like an oil change, this is a regular 

expense and is NOT capitalized 

d. Valuation of capital assets 

i. The general rule is that the plant assets should be valued at the 

market value of the consideration given for the asset, or the market 

value of the asset- whichever is more readily determinable 

1. So if you paid cash for a truck on the open market, you put 

the truck on your books at the price you paid 

2. If you purchase a truck on credit, you value the asset at the 

present value of future cash payments 

3. If you issue securities to pay for a truck, you value the truck 

at the value of the truck or the value of the securities you 

issued- whichever is more readily determinable 

4. If someone donates a truck to your business, the FV is 

immediately expensed through “contribution expense”, the 

asset is taken off the books, and the difference between FV 

and BV is recorded as a gain or loss 

e. Interest Capitalization 

i. When a company is constructing a significant asset, interest on the 

project can be capitalized. The rationale is that interest on the 



 

33 
By Nate Rivers | Copyright © 2015 accounting101.org 

construction costs is deferred by adding it to the cost of the asset, 

and will eventually be expensed through depreciation 

1. 3 things have to be happening at the same time in order for 

interest to be capitalized: 

a. Interest cost is being incurred 

b. Construction activities are taking place 

c. Construction expenses are occurring 

ii. Amount to capitalize 

1. The amount capitalized is the lesser of actual interest cost 

during the period or avoidable interest 

a. Avoidable interest is the interest that could have been 

avoided by paying off debt if the construction 

expenses weren’t going on 

b. Avoidable interest is calculated by multiplying the 

interest rate by ‘average accumulated expenditures’ 

during the period 

i. AAE is the average amount invested in the 

project during the year 

ii. If AAE is greater than interest bearing debt, 

then all interest costs will be capitalized 

because all of the debt could have been 

avoided (paid off) 

c. Which interest rate to use? There are two methods: 

i. Specific method: use the specific interest rates 

on the construction loans first, then the 

average interest rate on the remaining debt 

ii. Average method: treat all debt the same and 

apply the average interest rate to all debt 

f. Depreciation Methods 

i. Non accelerated methods 

1. Straight line: (cost - salvage value) / number of years 
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2. Service hours method: (cost - salvage / total service hours) x 

hours used 

3. Units of output: (cost - salvage/total units) x units produced 

ii. Accelerated methods 

1. Sum of years digits: (# years remaining x(cost - salvage)) / 

sum of the years 

2. Double declining: 2x straight line rate x (cost - acc 

depreciation) 

g. Natural resources 

i. Acquisition costs are costs to acquire natural resources such as 

land or a cost to lease a property 

ii. Exploration costs are costs to locate the natural resources 

1. Successful efforts: only costs of successful exploration are 

capitalized, unsuccessful are expensed 

2. Full cost: all exploration costs are capitalized 

iii. Depletion 

1. Depletion is the allocation of the natural resource to 

inventory 

2. Depletion is debited to inventory and credited to a contra 

account for the natural resource asset 

h. Impairments 

i. An asset’s value should be written down if its fair value becomes 

less than carrying value. This is impairment 

ii. 3 categories of impaired assets 

1. Assets held in use 

a. impaired when carrying value is greater than fair 

value 

b. impairment loss is CV - FV 

2. Assets held for disposal or sale 

a. Fair value less cost to sell is the NRV 

b. If CV > NRV then record a loss 
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c. If CV < NRV then record a gain 

3. Assets to be disposed of other than a sale 

a. Continue to treat as a regular asset 

b. It’s depreciated like normal 

c. Apply impairment if applicable 

i. Fixed Assets GAAP/IFRS Differences 

i. Under GAAP, you cannot reverse impairment of assets. Under 

IFRS reversal of impairment is permitted if circumstances change- 

but not on goodwill 

ii. Under IFRS, an annual review of the estimated useful life and 

depreciation method is required. Under GAAP this is only required 

if circumstances change or there is a reason to re-evaluate 

iii. IFRS uses component depreciation: different components of an 

asset that has different useful lives should be depreciated by their 

respective useful lives 

6. Investments 

a. Equity investments 

i. This gives the investor an ownership interest in a company- such 

as common or preferred stock 

ii. Levels of ownership: 

1. 0 to 20%: 

a. No real influence 

b. Valued at cost or fair value 

c. Categorized as trading or available-for-sale 

d. Either current or noncurrent investment on balance 

sheet 

2. 21-50%: 

a. Significant influence 

b. Valued using equity method or fair value 

c. Categorized as an equity investment 

d. Noncurrent investment on the balance sheet 
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3. 51% or more: 

a. Controlling influence 

b. Valued at equity method or cost method 

c. This investment becomes a subsidiary 

d. Consolidated financials 

b. Investments in debt 

i. These are things like bonds and notes 

ii. There is no ownership. The investor is going to receive interest 

payments and principal repayment 

iii. If the investor intends to hold the investment to maturity, then it is a 

“held-to-maturity” investment and valued at “amortized cost” 

iv. If the investor does NOT intend to hold the investment to maturity, 

then it is a “trading” or “available-for-sale” investment, and is valued 

at “fair value” 

c. No Significant Influence Categories 

i. Held-to-maturity 

1. Only debt investments are in this category 

2. Investment is carried at amortized cost 

3. Recognized interest as earned 

4. Can be current or noncurrent on balance sheet depending 

on maturity date 

ii. Trading 

1. These can be debt or equity investments 

2. Investor is looking for short-term profits 

3. Investments are carried at fair value 

4. These will almost always be current assets on balance sheet 

iii. Available for sale 

1. Can be debt or equity investments 

2. Carry and report these investments at fair value 

3. Adjust carrying value to fair market value at balance sheet 

date 
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4. Gains/losses are recognized in ‘other comprehensive 

income’ 

a. Remember that one item of ‘other comprehensive 

income’ is changes in value of AFS securities 

iv. Transfers between categories 

1. When either a HTM or AFS security is moved to the ‘trading’ 

category, you put the investment at fair value and the 

unrealized gain or loss is recorded in income 

2. When an AFS investment is changed to HTM, any 

unrealized G/L in AOCI is then amortized over the life of the 

debt 

3. When a HTM is moved to AFS, the investment is recorded at 

fair value and the gain or loss is recorded in AOCI. 

d. Cost method investments 

i. This applies only to equity securities with no significant influence 

and when the fair value cannot be easily determined 

ii. The investment is recorded on the balance sheet at cost 

iii. Dividends are recognized in earnings 

e. IFRS vs GAAP Differences 

i. Under GAAP there are 3 investment classifications: HTM, AFS, and 

Trading. Under IFRS, there are just two: HTM and Fair Value 

ii. Under GAAP any impairment of a debt investment cannot be 

reversed. Under IFRS an impairment can be reversed if there is 

evidence 

iii. Under GAAP, to classify an investment as HTM, the investor needs 

to have “positive ability and intent to hold to maturity”. Under IFRS it 

is a “business model test” 

f. Equity Method 

i. This is the method used when an investor owns more than 20% but 

less 50% of voting shares in an entity 
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1. You can own 21-49% and still not have significant influence 

if the investee opposed investor, another investor owns more 

and “blocks” your interests, you don’t have representation on 

the board 

2. Also, you can own less than 20% and HAVE significant 

influence if you own the highest % of stock, if you have 

representation on the board, or are technologically 

interdependent with the investee 

ii. Recording the investment: 

1. Record the investment at cost on your books 

2. If the purchase price is greater than the FMV, you allocate 

the difference to goodwill 

3. Dividends reduce the investment on your books, and it’s pro-

rata: If you paid $1,000 for 30% of the common stock, then 

they pay out $100 in dividends, you will reduce your 

investment by $30 

4. Income is the opposite: If the company you invested in 

reported $100 of net income, you would increase the 

investment on your books by $30 

iii. IFRS vs GAAP Equity Method Differences 

1. Under GAAP, the fair value option can be applied to equity 

investees. Under IFRS only certain investors can- not 

regular businesses 

2. Under GAAP the investor business and the investee 

business can have different accounting policies. Under IFRS 

both company’s accounting policies must be the same 

3. Under GAAP, equity method applies until the investment is 

sold. Under IFRS, the investment must be reclassified to 

AFS before it is sold 

g. Joint Ventures 
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i. A join venture is when two or more entities engage in an activity for 

profit that is usually for a limited purpose or a limited time period 

ii. The investor recognizes contribution to the JV as an investment on 

its books, at is recorded at the carrying value of contributed assets 

h. Dividends 

i. Stock dividends 

1. Investors are paid additional shares as dividends 

2. There is no income to the investor, they just recognize the 

additional shares 

3. It reduces per-share cost 

ii. Cash dividends 

1. If an investor is paid cash as dividend, then there is ‘dividend 

income’ 

a. Debit cash and credit ‘dividend income’ 

iii. Stock splits 

1. This is when a company declares a “2 for 1” or “3 for 1” split 

of their stock 

2. If you own 10 shares, after the split you own 20 shares in a 2 

for 1, or you now own 30 shares if it’s a 3 for 1, and so on… 

3. There is NO income to the investor, it just reduces the per-

share cost and the additional shares are recognized 

i. IFRS Investment Property 

i. This is a specific class of investments that IFRS uses 

ii. This can be land, a building, or both that is for the purpose of 

earning rent or capital appreciation, or both 

1. Treatment 

a. Recognize the investment using either the fair value 

method 

i. Adjust to FV at each balance sheet date and 

recognize the gain or loss in income for the 

period 
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b. Or the cost method 

i. Keep the investment on the balance sheet at 

cost 

ii. If it’s depreciable, it will be depreciated 

iii. If impaired, recognize loss 

iv. When it’s sold, difference between carrying 

value and selling price is the gain or loss 

j. Impairment of debt & equity 

i. Equity securities at fair value are already marked up or down at the 

end of each period- no additional adjustment is needed 

ii. For AFS equity securities, if the loss is “other than temporary”, then 

the losses go through earnings 

1. If the losses are considered temporary, leave the losses in 

OCI 

iii. For debt securities, losses are almost always recognized in 

earnings 

7. Intangible Assets 

a. 2 types of intangibles 

i. Identifiable: these can be legally identified such as copyrights, 

customer lists, patents 

ii. Unidentifiable: goodwill 

b. 2 types of “life” 

i. Definite life: has a finite life legally or other factors limit its life 

ii. Indefinite life: no foreseeable limit on the life of the asset 

c. For definite life intangibles: 

i. You capitalize external costs 

ii. They are amortized over their useful life on straight line method 

iii. Impairment loss is BV - FV 

d. For indefinite life intangibles: 

i. You capitalize external costs 
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ii. They are NOT amortized (although goodwill can be amortized for 

nonpublic companies) 

iii. Impairment loss is BV - FV 

e. Goodwill 

i. Goodwill is the excess over fair market value of the acquired 

company’s assets. It represents brand value, customer loyalty, etc 

ii. Goodwill is not amortized, but it can be impaired 

iii. If determined that goodwill is impaired, impairment loss is part of 

continuing operations 

f. IFRS and Intangibles 

i. Under GAAP, re-valuation of goodwill is NOT allowed. Under IFRS 

it is allowed if in an active market 

ii. Under GAAP, reversal of impairment loss is NOT allowed. Under 

IFRS a reversal of an impairment loss is permitted 

iii. Under GAAP, goodwill is recognized at the “reporting unit” level. 

Under IFRS it is recognized at the cash-generating unit level 

8. Payables and Accrued Liabilities 

a. Liabilities are classed as either ‘current’ or ‘noncurrent’ 

b. Current liabilities are expected to be paid within one year or one operating 

cycle 

c. Current liabilities are not interest-bearing 

d. Payroll liabilities are the wages that are accrued as employees work, and 

then are paid out as wage or salary expense on payday 

i. Payroll liabilities also include the employer portion of taxes and 

fringe benefits such as FICA and Medicare 

9. Deferred Revenue 

a. Deferred revenue, or ‘unearned revenue’ is when cash is received before 

the product or service has been delivered 

b. It is a liability- it is only recognized as revenue once it is earned and 

realizable 
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i. Examples are rent received in advance, gift cards, advances from 

customers, etc 

c. Extended warranties 

i. This is a specific type of a deferred revenue 

1. Usually the extended warranty revenue is amortized on a SL 

basis over the life of the warranty 

10. Long Term Debt 

a. Notes payable 

i. With notes payable problems, you’ll be given two interest rates: 

1. The stated rate: this is the rate stated in the note and 

determines the actual cash payment of interest each period 

2. The effective rate, or yield rate, is the market rate of interest. 

If the note is to be reported at present value, then you use 

the effective rate 

a. When the effective rate is bigger than the stated rate, 

the note is issued at a discount. When the effective 

rate is lower than the stated rate, the note is issued at 

a premium. 

i. A discount is a contra account to the note 

ii. A premium is an adjunct account to the note 

1. A discount is amortized over the life of 

of the note and the discount increases 

the liability of the note 

2. A premium is amortized over the life of 

the note and decreases the liability of 

the note 

b. Bonds 

i. Bonds and long-term notes use the same principles 

ii. Types of bonds: 
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1. Secured and unsecured: A secured bond has a claim to 

specific assets. Unsecured has no such claim and the 

bondholders are unsecured creditors 

2. Serial bonds: bonds that mature at staggered intervales 

3. Single maturity bond: Most CPA problems are this type of 

bond and it just means a bond with a single maturity date 

4. Callable and redeemable bonds: Bonds that can be matured 

before the maturity date a specified price 

5. Convertible and non-convertible: a convertible bond can be 

converted into stock. Most bond problems will be “regular” 

bonds that are not convertible, and just have a single 

maturity date 

iii. For bond problems you’ll need to know: 

1. Issue date 

2. Face value- this is usually stated at 10, $1,000 bonds for a 

total of $10,000 

3. Coupon rate or stated interest rate- this determines the cash 

interest paid 

4. Effective rate or yield rate- this determines interest expense 

and bond price 

5. Interest payment dates- this is usually twice a year 

6. Maturity date of bond 

a. Again, if the market rate is greater than stated rate, 

there is a discount 

b. If the market rate is less than the stated rate, there is 

a premium 

c. If the market rate is the same as the stated rate, there 

is no premium or discount 

iv. Bond price is the present value of future cash payments discounted 

at the yield rate 
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1. NOTE: For bond problems on the CPA, they will usually give 

you the present value of the bond price. You won’t usually 

need to calculate the PV of a bond price yourself. 

2. Or, they make it easy by saying something like, “ABC issued 

$100,000 of bonds at 97”. This means they issued the bonds 

at a discount, and you multiply 100,000 by .97 to get the 

present value of the bond price 

a. Bonds issued at “102 or 103, etc” just mean there is a 

premium and you would multiply the bond price by 

1.02 or 1.03 to get the present value 

3. When you’re figuring out interest payments and amounts, 

keep track of your dates and the number of payments each 

year. 

a. If the stated rate is 10% and there is an interest 

payment twice each year, remember to either use 5% 

(half of 10) to get the payment, or to multiply the face 

amount by 10% and then divide it in half to get each 

payment 

b. If bonds are issued on something like Oct 1 and they 

ask you what the interest expense for the year was, 

remember that it’s only 3 months instead of 6 or 12. 

Keep the dates in mind and the # of months that are 

applicable to the question they are asking 

v. Bond issue costs 

1. Some problems will include bond issue costs 

2. Bond issue costs are capitalized to a deferred charge 

account which is an asset, and it is amortized as expense 

over the bond term 

a. Bond issue costs include accounting fees, legal fees, 

printing fees, and underwriting fees 

vi. Fair value option for bonds 
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1. A company can elect to record a bond at fair value 

a. The election can never be changed 

b. It can apply to one or several bonds 

c. The bond is recorded at fair value 

d. The amortization of a premium or discount still applies 

e. Any change in fair value is recognized in earnings as 

unrealized gains or losses 

i. Increase in fair value means a loss: the 

company owes more 

ii. Decrease in fair value is a gain: the company 

owes less 

vii. IFRS Bond Difference 

1. Under GAAP, bond issue costs are capitalized and then 

amortized. Under IFRS, debt issue costs reduce any 

premium or increase any discount 

viii. Conversion of convertible bonds 

1. Book value method: at conversion you just transfer the bond 

balances to stock accounts and no gain or loss is recorded 

2. Market value method: at conversion the stock accounts are 

credited for the market value of the stock or bonds, the bond 

accounts are closed, and a gain or loss is recorded for the 

difference 

a. You’re comparing the market value of the bonds to 

the market value of the stock, and the difference will 

be either a gain or loss 

ix. Bonds with warrants 

1. A company can issue bonds that also give the bond 

purchaser stock warrants (stock rights). 

2. Both the bonds and the warrants need to be allocated a 

value 
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a. If the fair value of both the bonds and the warrants is 

known (this will be given to you in the problem), then 

you allocate the total bond price in proportion to the 

fair values 

b. If only one fair value is known, you assign the fair 

value to that security and allocate the remaining bond 

price to the other security 

c. When allocating a value to the warrants, this is 

recorded in equity, not debt 

c. Troubled Debt Restructuring 

i. This is when a debtor can’t pay their debt, and the creditor decides 

there is more to gain by making a concession instead of forcing the 

debtor into bankruptcy 

1. The creditor makes a concession on the amount owed, and 

they record a loss 

2. The debtor records a gain, because they now owe less than 

they did originally 

d. Debt covenants 

i. These are when a creditor gives a debtor specific covenants that 

they have to meet. These are usually financial ratios that the debtor 

has to stay within a certain range of, for example total liabilities to 

tangible net worth 

ii. If the debtor falls “out of covenant”, there are penalties such as the 

debt being due immediately 

11. Equity 

a. Common vs preferred 

i. The biggest difference in common stock vs preferred is that 

common stock usually has voting rights and preferred doesn’t, and 

preferred stock usually has dividends and dividend priority when 

common stock might not receive dividends 

b. Stock issuance 
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i. When a company issues stock, there are usually 3 accounts hit: 

1. ‘Cash’ for the amount of the stock issued 

a. ‘Common stock’ (#shares * par value) 

b. ‘Paid-in capital excess of par’- whatever is above the 

par value 

i. If you issued 10 shares of $1 par value stock 

for $100, you would receive $100 in cash, 

credit ‘common stock’ for $10, and credit 

‘additional paid in capital’ for $90 

c. If the stock is “no par” stock, then the entry would just 

be a debit to cash of $100 and a credit to ‘common 

stock’ of $100 

c. Preferred stock 

i. Preferred stock can be 

1. callable 

2. redeemable 

3. convertible 

ii. If redeemable preferred stock has a specified date at a specified 

price, it is usually classified as debt 

1. Dividends are reported as interest expense 

iii. When callable or redeemable stock is called or redeemed, any 

dividends in arrears are paid first 

d. Treasury stock 

i. Treasury stock is when a company purchase its own stock. It does 

not represent ownership and it lowers cash and owners’ equity. 

ii. Treasury stock is a contra- owners’ equity account 

iii. It is not an asset or an investment, income is never affected, 

earnings per share is increase, and retained earnings can be 

decreased but not increased by treasury stock 

iv. 2 methods of accounting for treasury stock 

1. cost method: this debits the treasury stock account at cost 
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a. when treasury stock is purchased, cash is credited 

and ‘treasury stock’ is credit for the same amount 

2. par method: this debits the treasury stock account at par 

a. when treasury stock is purchased, common stock is 

reduced pro-rata for the # of treasury shares 

purchased 

e. Dividends 

i. Dividends are a distribution of cash or other property from a firm to 

its owners. They are a distribution of earnings, so they are not an 

expense. 

ii. The liability for dividends is recognized at the declaration date 

1. The ‘date of record’ is the cutoff date for the owners who will 

receive dividends. If you bought stock in the company after 

the date of record, no dividends for you 

2. Payment date is the date the dividends are actually paid out 

iii. Dividends in arrears are dividends that accumulate because they 

weren’t actually paid out during a period. However, no liability is 

recorded on dividends in arrears until dividends are declared 

iv. Dividends reduce the owners’ equity account when paid 

v. Scrip dividends 

1. This is when a firm declares dividends but doesn’t have the 

money to pay them 

2. It’s essentially a note payable from the firm to the owners, 

and interest is paid on the note until the dividends are paid 

vi. Liquidating dividends are when dividends are a return OF capital 

instead of a return ON capital 

1. These usually happen in industries involving natural 

resources 

vii. Stock dividends 

1. This is when a firm pays ‘dividends’ of additional stock in the 

company 
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2. It increases the # of shares outstanding, but it doesn’t 

change ownership percentages, and it doesn’t reduce the 

firm’s owners’ equity 

3. If the dividend is LESS than 25% of outstanding shares, then 

the dividend is capitalized at market value 

4. If the dividend is MORE than or equal to 25% of outstanding 

shares, the stock is capitalized at par value 

viii. Stock split 

1. This simply doubles the number of outstanding shares if it’s 

a 2-for-1 split, or triples if it’s a 3-for-1 split, and so on 

2. Retained earnings nor the common stock account is affected 

by a stock split 

ix. Allocation 

1. In general, the order of dividend payment is the following: 

a. Preferred shareholders receive any dividends in 

arrears they are owed 

b. Preferred shareholders receive the current period 

dividend 

c. Common shareholders receive a matching amount 

which equals the preferred % x total par of common 

outstanding 

d. Preferred receive an additional percentage if any 

dividends remain 

e. Common receive any remaining dividends after that 

x. Retained earnings 

1. Retained earnings = Income to date - dividends declared to 

date +/- other adjustments 

a. It is just keeping track of the earnings to date by a 

firm, and it is not the same thing as cash… it is not 

money sitting in a bank account somewhere 
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2. A retained earnings statement can be a separate statement 

in the financials, or it can be part of the Statement of 

Changes in Owners’ Equity 

3. Adjustments to retained earnings 

a. There are two things that can change prior year 

balances of retained earnings: 

i. The cumulative effect of an accounting 

principle change 

ii. The correction of an error that results in a prior 

period adjustment 

xi. Book value per share 

1. The formula for calculating book value per share is: 

a. (common stockholders’ equity) / (# of common shares 

outstanding) 

b. OR 

c. (Total owners’ equity - preferred stock claims) / (# of 

common shares outstanding) 

12. Revenue 

a. Two main criteria for recognizing revenue 

i. The revenue is earned, meaning the goods or services have been 

provided to the customer 

ii. There is reasonable assurance that the receivables will be collected 

b. Installment sale method 

i. If the collectability of a receivable is questionable, or getting the 

money for the receivable will take a long time, then the installment 

method of revenue recognition may be used 

1. This divides money received into “return of cost”, and “gross 

profit’ 

2. To do these problems, you need to calculate the gross profit 

margin, and then you’ll have an extra sales account called 

“deferred gross profit” (DGP) 
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3. DGP is margin percentage x sales. Then, as money is 

received, the margin percentage of that money reduces DGP 

because gross profit is being recognized 

4. So instead of just having a credit to sales and a debit to 

COGS, you have a third account called ‘DGP’, and it’s 

reduced each time actual money is received 

c. Cost recovery method 

i. This method uses the same “deferred gross profit’ account, but 

instead of realizing gross profit as a percentage of money received, 

no gross profit is realized until all cost has been recovered. 

ii. So if your sales were $1,000 and your COGS were $100, the first 

$100 of payment that comes in would just be cost recovery. All 

$900 received after that would be gross profit 

d. Sales with a significant right of return 

i. These are sales where the buyer knowing that they can return the 

goods is big reason they purchased, so revenue cannot be 

recognized until the return privilege has expired 

1. GAAP allows such revenue to be recognized before the 

return privilege is expired if the returns can be estimated 

e. Accounting for contract revenue 

i. This is basically for recognizing revenue on projects that take 

several years to complete 

ii. Two main methods: 

1. Percentage of Completion: You recognize profit as work 

proceeds- this method is required if the total project cost can 

be estimated 

a. You use a ‘construction in progress’ (CIP) account, 

which is an inventory account 

b. ‘billings’ is a contra CIP account and prevents double 

counting 
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c. You’ll be given the costs incurred in the year, and that 

plus the ‘estimated remaining cost to complete’ will 

give you the estimated project cost. 

d. Knowing the estimated project cost let’s you figure out 

the amount of revenue after any given year 

e. To figure out the profit recognized in year 2 and 

subsequent years, you just figure out the estimated 

profit in the current year, and then subtract any profit 

that’s been recognized in previous years 

2. Completed Contract: You don’t recognize any profit until the 

completion of the project 

a. The accounting is the same under this method except 

there are no year-end entries to record revenue. You 

record the revenue at the end of the project 

13. Pensions 

i. Two types of pension plans 

1. Defined contribution plans: the annual employer contribution 

is defined- the performance is up to the employee. These 

are much more simple to account for than defined benefit 

plans 

a. The employer simply contributes a set annual amount 

into an investment account for the employee held by a 

third party trustee 

2. Defined benefit plan: the annual retirement benefit is defined 

a. The big thing with this is the annual pension expense 

and the ending liability 

i. Annual pension expense is an income 

statement item 

1. 5 components of pension expense: 
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a. Service cost= the increase in 

PBO based on what employees 

earn in the current year 

b. Interest cost= the growth in PBO 

based on interest accruing. This 

is the PBO at beg of year x the 

discount rate 

c. Expected return on plan assets= 

the expected amount of growth in 

the pension fund for the year. 

This is the beg balance of plan 

assets x the expected rate of 

return 

d. Amortization of prior service cost 

e. Amortization of net gain or loss 

ii. The ‘projected benefit obligation’ (PBO), is a 

balance sheet item 

1. Basic formula for PBO is the sum of 

contributions to date, plus the sum of 

actual earnings on the fund to date, 

minus any benefits paid to date 

2. An increase in PBO is a PBO loss 

3. A decrease in PBO is a PBO gain 

b. The pension equation is trying to figure out what 

needs to be contributed by the employer on an annual 

basis in order to have the money to pay an employee 

a certain amount each year once the employee 

reaches retirement age 

14. Stock Compensation 
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a. Stock options: Stock options give employees the right to purchase their 

employers stock at a fixed price after working for the company for a period 

of time 

b. There are a few main elements of stock options 

i. Grant date: This is the date the options are awarded to the 

employee 

ii. Vesting date: This is the date in the future when the employee can 

actually exercise the option 

iii. Service period: This is the amount of time from grant date to 

vesting date 

iv. Compensation expense: This is the expense recognized during the 

service period 

1. Total compensation expense will be equal to the fair value of 

the options expected to be exercised 

2. Fair value is measured at the grant date using an option 

pricing model (usually Black Scholes) 

3. Total compensation expense is amortized on a straight line 

basis over the service period 

a. If an estimated forfeiture rate changes, then so does 

compensation expense 

b. The change in compensation expense is recognized 

in the current year, no prior years’ comp expense is 

changed 

c. Performance based options 

i. These are options that require some performance target is met 

before the options will vest 

ii. The change in expected number of options to be exercised is 

treated the same way as changes is forfeiture rate 

d. Expiration of options 

i. With fixed options, if the options expire un-exercised, there is no 

reversal of the compensation expense 
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ii. With performance-based options, if the performance criteria is not 

met and no options are exercised, then the compensation expense 

that was recognized IS reversed 

e. Stock awards 

i. When an employee is given a stock award, the stock is restricted 

until the stock vests 

ii. Total compensation expense is the fair value of the stock on the 

date that the employee receives the “award” 

iii. The employee does not own the stock until the award vests 

iv. Compensation expense is recognized over the service period 

v. If the award does not vest, then the compensation expense is 

reversed 

f. Stock appreciation rights 

i. This is a form of stock compensation that pays an employee an 

amount equal to the increase in the stock price between a grant 

date and exercise date 

ii. If cash will be paid, a liability is recorded, ‘SAR liability’ 

15. Income Taxes 

a. Difference will arise between accounting income and tax income. This is 

caused by temporary differences and permanent differences 

i. Permanent differences never reverse. 

1. Permanent differences arise from interest on something like 

municipal bonds- there would be interest income in 

accounting income, but it wouldn’t be counted in taxable 

income 

a. Other permanent differences include: 

i. any tax exempt interest 

ii. fines and penalties 

iii. life insurance premiums on key employees 

iv. dividends received deduction 

ii. Temporary differences 
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1. These are items that are recognized in different years 

between accounting income and tax income 

a. items that will taxable in the future create a deferred 

tax liability, because there is an amount that will 

increase taxable income in the future, and therefore 

increased taxes 

b. items that will be deductible in the future create a 

deferred tax asset, because it will reduce taxable 

income in the future 

2. Valuation allowance 

a. With deferred tax assets, there needs to be future 

taxable income in order to realize the tax asset 

i. A valuation allowance is a contra account to 

the deferred tax asset 

ii. Uses a “more likely than not” standard to 

determine if a valuation allowance should be 

used or not 

3. Net operating losses 

a. When you have deductions that exceed your taxable 

income, or negative taxable income, a net operating 

loss is created 

b. This can be carried back or forward to absorb taxable 

income in the past or future 

i. NOLs can be carried back 2 years, and forward 

20 years 

 

  



 

57 
By Nate Rivers | Copyright © 2015 accounting101.org 

Specific Transactions 

 

1. Accounting Principle Changes and Correction of Errors 

a. Management may change significant estimates or accounting principles, 

or a material error may be found that would have affected prior year’s 

financial statements 

i. Estimate changes: this is when you change the estimated useful life 

of PPE or change depreciation methods 

ii. Accounting principle changes: this is changing from one GAAP 

principle to another such as LIFO to FIFO 

iii. Error correction: this is when an error is discovered that affects 

prior year income 

b. Two accounting approaches to deal with these changes or errors 

i. Prospective application (going forward only) 

1. This is used with changes in estimates 

ii. Retrospective application (going back in time) 

1. This is used with changes in accounting principle, 

2. AND, for the correction of errors 

c. Prospective Application 

i. The new estimate is applied to the current and future years. Does 

not need to be applied to prior years 

d. Retrospective Application 

i. The change is prior years is recorded and an adjustment to 

retained earnings is made. This requires that prior year financials 

are RESTATED 

1. The adjustment to retained earnings is either a 

a. ‘cumulative effect’ of the change in accounting 

principle 

b. Or, a ‘prior period adjustment’ for error correction 

2. Asset Retirement Obligation 
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a. With certain assets that have environmental impact or are affected by 

other regulations, there will be significant costs to dispose of the asset. 

These future costs need to be accounted for as an “asset retirement 

obligation” (ARO) 

i. These types of assets include closing a mine, decommissioning 

nuclear processes, or site reclamation 

ii. The future asset retirement costs are capitalized as an asset, and 

as a liability 

1. The amount capitalized is the weighted present value of the 

future costs to retire the asset 

iii. The asset’s base is depreciated over its useful life 

iv. The ARO is increased each year as time goes on, this is ‘accretion 

expense’ 

1. The accretion expense is the ARO balance x the interest 

rate at initial measurement 

2. Annual accretion expense is an operating expense and is 

NOT considered interest expense 

3. Business Combinations 

a. A business combination is when an acquiring business gains control of 

another business 

i. Control is considered as greater than 50% of voting ownership 

b. Types of combinations 

i. Merger: Entity A merges with entity B. Entity B no longer exists in a 

merger, just entity A 

ii. Consolidation: Entity A and entity B consolidate their net assets and 

become entity C. Entity A & B no longer exist, just the new entity C 

iii. Acquisition: Entity A acquires a controlling interest in entity B, but 

BOTH entity A and B continue as separate legal entities 

c. If the price paid for the business is greater than the fair market value of the 

net assets, the difference is booked as goodwill 

d. Transaction costs 
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i. All costs associated with a business combination are expensed as 

incurred. This includes legal fees, audit fees, finder fees, etc 

e. Income determination 

i. At the date of acquisition, consolidated net income is just the 

parent’s net income 

ii. For the full year of the combination, consolidated net income is the 

parent’s net income for the year, + the sub’s net income AFTER the 

combination 

iii. For years after the combination, consolidated net income is the 

parent’s net income + the sub’s net income each year 

f. Disclosure requirements for business combinations 

i. Non-quantitative disclosures 

1. The name and description of acquiree 

2. Acquisition date 

3. Percentage voting equity acquired 

4. The primary reason for combination 

5. Description of how the acquirer gained control 

6. Qualitative factors that make up the goodwill amount 

ii. Acquisition date value disclosures 

1. Fair value of each class of consideration transferred and 

total amount transferred 

2. Fair value of non-controlling interest and techniques/inputs 

used to determine fair value 

iii. Goodwill disclosures 

1. Amount allocated to each reportable segment 

2. Amount expected to be tax deductible 

3. For bargain purchase: 

a. Amount of gain 

b. Where the gain shows in financial statements 

c. Description of basis for gain 

iv. Publicly traded entity disclosures 
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1. Amounts of post-combination revenue and earnings of sub 

included in consolidated income 

2. Revenue and earnings for the period as though combination 

occurred at beginning of period 

v. IFRS vs GAAP differences 

1. Under GAAP, contingent assets and liabilities can be 

recognized if criteria is met. Under IFRS, contingent assets 

are not recognized 

2. Under GAAP, goodwill allocation is to the reporting units. 

Under IFRS, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating 

units 

3. Goodwill impairment testing is a one-step process under 

IFRS, and a two-step process 

4. Consolidated Financial Statements 

a. Consolidated financials present all economic resources and obligations of 

the economic activity 

b. Consolidated financials emphasize economic substance over legal form 

c. At the date of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the parent and sub 

are combined on the balance sheet, but the income statement and 

statement of cash flows will only show from the parent, because their 

operations weren’t combined until that date 

d. Consolidating elimination entries 

i. These entries eliminate: 

1. The investment in the sub on the parent’s books 

2. The shareholders’ equity of the sub 

ii. And recognizes the noncontrolling interest in sub’s net assets 

e. Remember that with the equity method of accounting, the parent adjusts 

their investment in the sub based on the sub’s income and dividends: 

i. The sub’s income increased the parent’s investment 

ii. The sub’s dividends decreases the parent’s investment 
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f. Under the cost method of accounting, the parent does NOT adjust the 

investment in the sub. The parent’s investment in the sub will be the same 

on the investment date as at the date of combination 

g. The noncontrolling interest is the portion of the subsidiary NOT owned by 

the parent 

5. Intercompany transactions 

a. All intercompany transactions must be removed on consolidated 

statements, or else the level of activity would be overstated for both 

entities 

b. A downstream transaction is when the parent sells to the sub. An 

upstream transaction is when the sub sells to the parent. 

c. The following transaction types need to be eliminated in consolidated 

statements: 

i. Intercompany receivables/payables 

ii. Intercompany revenues/expenses 

iii. Intercompany inventory 

iv. Intercompany fixed assets 

v. Intercompany bonds 

6. Derivatives and Hedges 

a. Derivatives are a financial instrument with an underlying, a notional 

amount, and a net settlement (such as a stock option) 

i. An underlying is a specified price or rate, such as a stock price 

ii. A notional amount is a specified unit of measure, such as # of 

shares 

iii. The settlement amount is determined by the underlying being 

multiplied by the notional amount, such as 100 shares at $20 per 

share 

b. Common types of derivatives 

i. Option contracts 

ii. Future contracts 

iii. Forward contracts 
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iv. Swap contracts- these are usually swapping fixed interest rate for a 

variable rate 

c. Measurement 

i. Derivatives are recognized as either an asset or a liability 

ii. They are measured at fair value 

iii. Changes in fair value result in gains or losses that are recognized 

in earnings 

d. Hedges 

i. An item that you would “hedge” against (a hedging item), is an 

asset or liability that is subject to a possible loss 

1. A ‘hedging instrument’ is a contract or some other 

arrangement that mitigates the possible loss of the hedging 

item 

a. So remember, you use a ‘hedging instrument’ to 

‘hedge’ against a ‘hedging item’ 

ii. Items you would use hedging for: 

1. Commodity price fluctuation risk 

2. Foreign exchange fluctuation risk 

3. Interest rate fluctuation risk 

4. Credit risk 

iii. Fair value risk 

1. This is the risk of a loss due to a change in the fair value of a 

hedged item 

2. This converts fixed risk into a floating risk 

3. A ‘firm commitment’ is an agreement that is usually legally 

enforceable that has been entered into with a third party. 

This agreement specifies all significant terms such as dates, 

prices, and quantities. A fair value hedge would be used to 

hedge against this risk, because at the date the agreement 

is made, prices are locked down by the contract, but by the 
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actual date of the transaction, market prices could have 

gone up or down. 

4. Basic accounting formula for fair value hedge: 

a. adjust hedging instrument to FV at balance sheet date 

b. adjust hedged item to FV at balance sheet date 

c. recognize in current income the gain/loss from 

revaluing each 

d. if the hedge does not exactly offset the gain or loss on 

the hedged item, the difference is a gain or loss in 

current income 

iv. Cash flow risk 

1. This is the risk of loss due to a change in cash flows from a 

hedged item 

2. This converts a floating risk into a fixed risk 

3. A forecasted transaction is an example of this type of risk. 

This is a transaction that is expected to occur. A cash flow 

hedge would be used with this type of transaction 

4. Basic cash flow hedge accounting: 

a. determine change in present value of expected cash 

flow of hedged item 

b. recognize the difference in the fair value of the 

derivative up to the amount of change in present 

value of expected cash flow in other comprehensive 

income. This is the effective portion 

c. the amount different than the change in present value 

of expected cash flow in current income, this is the 

ineffective portion 

v. Disclosures 

1. Specific disclosures are required for entities that issue 

derivatives AND/OR hold derivatives 
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2. Entities that hold derivatives must disclose a lot of info about 

their reasons for using derivatives and the purposes of using 

derivatives 

3. They must also disclose information that distinguishes 

between fair value derivatives and cash flow derivatives 

4. BOTH the net gain or loss recognized in earnings during the 

period and the amount of gain or loss deferred in other 

comprehensive income must be disclosed 

7. Contingent Liabilities 

a. Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that a company is aware of, 

and depending on how probable they are, there are different requirements 

i. If the contingent liability is “probable” and can be estimated, then it 

should be recognized on the financial statements 

ii. If if it probable but cannot be estimated, then it should be disclosed 

in a note 

iii. If it is possible, then it should be disclosed in a note 

iv. If the possibility is ‘remote’, then it doesn’t need to be disclosed 

b. Gain contingencies are never recognized, they will be mentioned only in a 

footnote 

c. IFRS Differences 

i. Under GAAP, if a contingent liability is going to be recognized, you 

use the lowest amount in the range of possibilities. Under IFRS, 

you use the midpoint in the range of possible liability 

8. Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

a. EPS is a ratio of income over weighted average common shares 

outstanding 

b. There is basic EPS and diluted EPS 

i. Basic EPS is computed only on common shares outstanding and 

net income 

ii. Diluted EPS is calculating EPS if all possible preferred shares 

and/or stock options were converted to common shares 
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c. Basic EPS formula: 

i. (net income - preferred stock dividends) / (weighted avg common 

shares outstanding) 

1. The denominator is not just the ending # of shares. If any 

shares were issued in the year you’re calculating EPS for, 

you need to multiply the # of shares by the % of the year 

they’ve been outstanding. So if 1,000 shares were issued on 

July 1, you would multiply 1,000 x (6/12), which would be 

500 shares 

2. You’ll get questions that ask you what amount of preferred 

stock dividends to subtract: 

a. If the preferred stock is cumulative, you subtract one 

full year of the dividends- no matter what amount is 

paid or declared 

b. If the preferred stock is non cumulative, you subtract 

the only the amount of preferred dividends declared 

that year 

d. Dilutive formula: 

i. (net income - preferred stock dividends + adjustments to income for 

assumed conversion of potential common stock) / (weighted avg 

common shares outstanding + shares from assumed conversion of 

potential common shares) 

e. GAAP requires that BPS is reported, and diluted EPS is required IF the 

firm has dilutive preferred shares 

f. IFRS differences 

i. Under GAAP, if a company experienced extraordinary items during 

the year, then EPS for extraordinary items will be reported. Under 

IFRS, since extraordinary items are not allowed in the first place, 

there are never any EPS for extraordinary items 

9. Extraordinary Items 

a. An extraordinary item is an item that is both: 
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i. Unusual 

ii. and, infrequent in occurrence 

b. These items are presented net of tax 

c. and they are presented after discontinued operations on the income 

statement 

d. earnings per share for extraordinary items is also presented on the income 

statement 

e. IFRS difference 

i. IFRS does not allow extraordinary items 

10. Foreign Currency Transactions 

a. These are transactions that are done in another currency, but reported in 

the US dollar. So the issue is how to convert these transaction to USD and 

the related gains/losses. 

b. Terms to know 

i. Exchange rate: the price of one unit of one currency in terms of 

another currency 

1. Direct rate: The domestic price of one unit of a foreign 

currency. This would be 1 Euro = $1.57, or 1 Peso = $0.32 

2. Indirect rate: This is the foreign price of 1 unit of domestic 

currency. $1 = 0.87 Euro, or $1 = 3.2 Pesos 

ii. Spot rate: The exchange rate at the current date 

iii. Forward rate: The exchange rate now, for a date in the future 

iv. Functional currency: the currency of the primary economic 

environment that the business operates in: A Chilean company’s 

functional currency would be the Chilean peso 

c. When the domestic currency weakens compared to a foreign currency, 

accounts receivable creates an exchange gain because when you get 

paid you’re getting more than you were initially owed, and therefore 

accounts payable create an exchange loss because you’re paying back 

more money than you originally owed. 
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d. When the domestic currency strengthens against a foreign currency, 

accounts rec. creates an exchange loss and accounts pay. creates an 

exchange gain 

e. Transactions: 

i. On the day of the transaction, multiply foreign currency by spot rate 

to get the dollar value 

ii. At balance sheet date, do the same thing to get a new dollar value 

1. The difference is an exchange gain or loss, and adjust the 

value of the receivable or payable 

iii. At settlement date of transaction, determine the new dollar amount 

to settle transaction (same as before: F/C units x spot rate = new 

dollar value) 

iv. The difference between the new dollar value and what’s on the 

books is an exchange gain or loss 

f. Foreign Currency Contracts 

i. FX exchange contract: this is an obligation to buy or sell a foreign 

currency 

ii. FX option contract: this gives the right to buy or sell a foreign 

currency, but not an obligation to do so 

1. If the instrument is used for speculation, then any gains or 

losses are recognized in current income 

2. If the instrument is a fair value or cash flow hedge, then the 

gains or losses apply to the related rules 

11. Foreign Financial Statements 

a. There are many reasons why a U.S. firm might need to translate the 

financials of a foreign sub into U.S. dollars 

i. Terms to know: 

1. Recording currency: the currency that the foreign books and 

financial statements are in 

2. Reporting currency: the currency that the final financial 

statements will be in 
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3. Functional currency: the currency of the primary economic 

environment that the entity operates in. Except when: 

a. If the local economy is in hyperinflation, which means 

inflation of 100% or more for 3 straight years, the 

reporting currency is the functional currency 

b. If the foreign operations could not operate without the 

U.S. entity’s operations, then the reporting currency is 

also the functional currency 

ii. When the sub’s local recording currency is the functional currency, 

you “translate” the sub’s financials to US dollars using translation 

iii. When the sub uses the US dollar as the functional currency, but 

records in the local foreign currency, then the financials are 

“remeasured” to US dollars 

iv. When the sub’s functional currency is something other than the 

functional currency, then the sub’s financials are ‘remeasured’ from 

recording currency to functional currency, and then ‘translated’ from 

functional currency to US dollars 

b. Translation 

i. Assets and liabilities are translated using the spot rate (current rate) 

at balance sheet date 

ii. Income statement accounts are translated using: 

1. the exchange rate at the date the item was earned or 

incurred 

2. the weighted avg exchange for the period (it will usually just 

be this) 

iii. Retained earnings is computed- the converted trial balance will not 

balance 

1. A ‘translation adjustment’ is made to balance. It is an item of 

other comprehensive income 

c. Remeasurement 
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i. Use current spot rate for all monetary assets and liabilities (like AP, 

AR) 

ii. Use historic rates for non-monetary items like fixed assets, prepaid 

assets, COGS, depreciation 

iii. Use weighted avg for revenues and expenses that occurred evenly 

throughout the year 

1. To remember the difference between remeasurement and 

translation, remeasurement is the only one that uses any 

type of historic rates 

iv. Remeasured trial balance will not balance either 

1. A ‘remeasurement adjustment’ is needed to make it balance 

2. This remeasurement adjustment is recognized as a gain or 

loss in income from continuing operations and flows through 

to retained earnings 

d. Remeasurement, then Translation 

i. It’s simply re-measured, then translated. 

ii. There are two conversion adjustments: 

1. First, a remeasurement adjustment which goes through the 

income statement 

2. Second, a translation adjustment which goes through the 

statement of other comprehensive income 

12. Interim Reporting 

a. These are financials issued between annual reports 

b. Interim statements are not audited- they are ‘reviewed’ 

c. Tax rate is estimated in each interim period 

d. The formula is: 

i. (cumulative year-to-date income x estimated annual tax rate) - any 

tax expense recognized in prior interim periods 

13. Leases 

a. There are two types of leases: 

i. Operating: this is basically a rental agreement 
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ii. Capital lease: this is treated as if it were a sale 

b. 4 criteria for determining if a lease is a capital lease instead of an 

operating lease: 

i. If ownership transfers at the end of the lease 

ii. If there is a bargain purchase option 

iii. If the lease term is greater than or equal to 75% of the useful life of 

the leased asset 

iv. If the present value of the lease payments is greater than or equal 

to 90% of the cash price of the leased asset 

v. If ANY one of the above are true, it is a capital lease 

c. Operating lease accounting: 

i. Average rental per period is used for expense and revenue 

recognition. Even if there is a “free first month” or some other 

promotion that makes the cash payments unequal 

ii. Leasehold improvements 

1. Any costs for leasehold improvements are capitalized to a 

‘leasehold improvement’ asset account and amortized over 

the shorter of either the remaining lease term, or the useful 

life of the improvement 

d. Capital lease accounting: 

i. When capitalizing lease payments, exclude executory costs 

1. executory costs are things like insurance, maintenance, 

property taxes 

2. If the lease payment is $1,500 with $200 of executory costs, 

only $1,300 would be capitalized 

ii. The lessee’s interest rate on the lease will be the lower of the 

lessor’s implicit rate, and 

1. The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is the rate on similar 

debt (the problem will usually give you these two rates, and 

it’s the lower of the two) 
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iii. So the general journal entries will be to have a ‘leased asset’ 

account and a ‘lease liability’ account. 

1. Then, cash payments are lowering the lease liability, with a 

portion being interest expense on each payment 

iv. Bargain purchase options are INCLUDED in the minimum lease 

payments 

v. ‘Unguaranteed residual’ is excluded from minimum lease payments 

1. But, a ‘guaranteed residual’ by the lessee IS included in the 

minimum lease payments 

vi. IFRS Difference 

1. Under IFRS, instead of the 75% of the remaining life rule, 

any “major portion” of the remaining useful life would be a 

capital lease 

2. Likewise, instead of the GAAP 90% of cash value rule, under 

IFRS if the present value of minimum lease payments is 

‘substantially all’ of the fair value of the asset, then it’s a 

capital lease 

3. Another IFRS criteria is that if the asset under lease is 

specialized or unique to the point that only the lessee could 

use it without requiring major modifications, then it would be 

considered a capital lease 

14. Non-monetary Exchanges 

a. This is when one asset is exchanged for another asset 

b. Whether an exchange has ‘commercial substance’ or not means whether 

the transaction will significantly change the cash flows to the company. If a 

transaction is expected to significantly change a firm’s cash flows, then the 

transaction has ‘commercial substance’ 

c. Assets in these types of transactions are ‘nonmonetary’, usually meaning 

fixed assets 

d. Accounting treatment for exchanges WITH commercial substance: 

i. The valuation of the new asset should be its fair value 
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ii. If neither asset’s fair value can be determined, then no gain or loss 

is recognized and the new asset is recorded at the BV of the old 

asset plus cash paid, or less cash received 

iii. Determining fair value of the new asset: 

1. If cash is paid to acquire the new asset, then it will have a 

BV of more than the old asset. So this means you record the 

FV of the new asset + the cash you paid 

2. If you receive cash along with a new asset, logically your old 

asset was worth more than the asset you’re receiving, so 

you would record the new asset at the FV of the old asset 

LESS the cash received 

e. Exchanges WITHOUT commercial substance 

i. If there is a loss, record the loss and then record the new asset at 

its fair value 

ii. If there is a gain but no cash is received, then no gain is 

recognized, but you record the new asset at the BV of the asset 

exchanged + any cash you paid 

iii. If there is a gain and you received cash, recognize the gain in 

proportion to the cash received and the new asset is recorded at 

FV less the unrecognized portion of the gain 

1. IF the proportion of cash received to total consideration 

received is more than 25%, record the gain in full and the 

asset acquired at FV 

15. Related Parties 

a. A related party is someone who can significantly influence a transaction or 

event 

b. Transactions with related parties are NOT arms-length, and any related 

party transactions must be disclosed 

16. Research and Development 

a. All R&D costs are expensed, but the trick is figuring out which costs can 

be considered R&D 
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b. R&D activities 

i. research aimed to discover new knowledge 

ii. searching for ways to apply new research findings 

iii. formulation and design of possible products or process alternatives 

iv. product testing or testing of process alternatives 

v. modification of the design of a product or process 

vi. design, construction, and testing of preproduction product 

prototypes 

vii. design of tools and molds involving new technology 

viii. the design and construction of a pilot plant not useful for 

commercial production 

ix. engineering activity required to take a designed product to the 

manufacturing stage 

c. Under IFRS, research costs are expensed, but development costs are 

capitalized 

17. Risk and Uncertainties Disclosures 

a. There are certain risks and uncertainties that have to be disclosed in the 

financials 

b. Going concern: if there are conditions present that give doubt to a firm’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, it needs to be disclosed 

c. Information about the firm’s products and services, and principal markets 

needs to be disclosed 

d. Significant estimates need to be disclosed 

i. Fair value estimates 

ii. inventory estimates 

iii. equipment obsolescence 

iv. valuation allowances for deferred tax assets 

v. impairment testing 

vi. contingencies 

e. Vulnerabilities due to significant concentrations need to be disclosed 

i. volume of business with particular customers or suppliers 
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ii. revenue from specific products 

iii. specific sources of services or materials 

iv. market or geographic area of operations 

18. Segment Reporting 

a. GAAP requires disclosures by major segments 

b. 3 “tests” to define what has to be a ‘reportable segment’ within a business: 

i. if an operating segment’s revenue is greater than or equal to 10% 

of combined revenue of all operating segments (this includes 

internal + external revenue) 

ii. if the absolute value of a segment’s operating profit or loss is 

greater than or equal to 10% of  the firm’s entire operating profit or 

operating loss 

iii. if an operating segment’s identifiable assets are greater than or 

equal to 10% of all combined assets of the firm 

1. As you can see, each test deals with a ‘greater than or equal 

to 10%’ amount as the main criteria 

c. Reportable segment disclosures: 

i. description of segment 

ii. factors used to identify reportable segments 

iii. earnings and total assets of segments 

iv. external revenue and internal revenue 

v. depreciation, amortization, and depletion 

vi. extraordinary items 

vii. income tax expense 

19. Computer Software Costs 

a. A firm can capitalize the costs related to the development of computer 

software once the software has reached technological feasibility 

i. So, before software being built is technologically feasible, it is in the 

R&D stage and therefore all costs are expensed 

ii. Once it reaches technological feasibility, costs during this stage are 

capitalized 
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iii. Once the product is on the market and being sold, then the 

capitalized costs will start being depreciated 

20. Subsequent Events 

a. These are events that occur after the balance sheet date, but before the 

financial statements are issued 

b. Conditions that existed at the balance sheet date require recognition in the 

financial statements 

c. Conditions that did NOT exist at the balance sheet date require disclosure 

in the footnotes 
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Not-for-Profit Accounting 

 

1. FASB sets the standards for non-governmental non-profits 

a. 4 types of non profit organizations 

i. Voluntary health & welfare organizations 

1. these provide free or low-cost services that run from 

contributions and/or grants 

ii. other not for profits 

1. these are non profits that benefit their members, such as 

museums, private elementary schools, religious 

organizations, political parties 

iii. healthcare 

1. government-run healthcare follow GASB standards 

iv. colleges and universities 

1. government-run colleges and universities follow GASB 

standards 

2. Non-profit financial reporting 

i. The purpose of non profit reporting is to allow external users to 

assess: 

1. stewardship and performance: how the non profit is fulfilling 

the mission and how managers are fulfilling their 

responsibilities 

2. services and sustainability: the services provided and the 

ability of the organization to keep providing those services 

ii. Net assets model: non profits report on 3 categories of net assets 

1. unrestricted 

2. temporarily restricted 

3. permanently restricted 

iii. Required financial statements for non profits 

1. statement of financial position (balance sheet) 
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a. This will show assets, liabilities, and then net assets 

instead of equity 

2. statement of activities (income statement) 

a. revenues 

b. expenses are always reported as a decrease in 

unrestricted net assets 

i. expenses are categorized into program 

expenses (related to the primary mission of the 

non profit), and supporting services expenses 

such as management or administration 

3. statement of cash flows 

a. this the standard operating activities, investing 

activities, and financing activities 

4. statement of functional expenses: this one is only required 

for voluntary health & welfare organizations 

a. this statement shows expenses for each major 

program of the non profit and support service 

b. again, program services relate to the actual mission of 

the non profit 

c. supporting services are costs for management, 

fundraising, and general expenses 

3. Endowments 

a. a regular endowment is when an external party donates money with the 

stipulation that the endowment amount has to remain intact forever. this 

makes it a ‘permanently restricted net asset’ 

i. If the donor wants the earnings of the endowment used for a 

specific purpose, then the earnings are ‘restricted’ and classified as 

temporarily restricted net assets 

ii. if there is no restriction on the earnings, then they are unrestricted 

net assets 
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b. a ‘term endowment’ is an endowment made to a non profit with the 

stipulation that it is invested for a specific period of time and can then be 

spent. this makes it a temporarily restricted net asset 

c. quasi endowment is an amount set aside by the governing body of the non 

profit. because it could also be spent by the governing body, these 

endowments are still considered unrestricted net assets 

4. A split interest agreement is when a non profit shares benefits in a trust 

with a donor or some other third-party 

a. these can be revocable or irrevocable 

5. Non profits account for all investments at fair value 

a. gains and losses are reported as changes to unrestricted net assets 

unless there is a donor imposed restriction 

b. non profits do NOT use trading, AFS, or other investment classifications 

c. Contributions 

i. Contributions can be conditional on some event or some other 

stipulation. if a contribution is conditional, the non profit has to wait 

until the condition has been met 

1. If a conditional contribution is received before the condition 

is met, then it is a liability until the condition is met 

ii. The donor gets to place restrictions on the donation (endowment). 

These can be temporary restrictions or permanent restrictions 

iii. A non profit can receive a donation as an ‘intermediary’, meaning 

that the non profit will then transfer the donation to another 

beneficiary 

1. If the non profit has a ‘unilateral right to redirect’, which 

means they get to pick the beneficiary of the donation, then 

the non profit will recognize the donation as contribution 

revenue 

2. If the non profit is NOT granted unilateral variance power 

(the right to redirect), then the contribution is recorded as a 
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liability, because the non profit is simply transferring it to 

some other beneficiary 

6. Collections 

a. collections of works of arts or historical treasures do NOT have to be 

capitalized if: 

i. the items are held for public exhibition, education, or research 

ii. AND they are protected and preserved 

iii. AND they are subject to a policy that required proceeds of items 

sold to be used to purchase other items for the collection 

7. Donated services 

a. donated services must be reported at fair value as BOTH an expense and 

revenue if: 

i. the services donated require specialized skills that would have 

otherwise been purchased 

ii. AND the person possesses those skills 

iii. AND the value of the services can be measured 

iv. AND the entity controls the employment and duties of the service 

donor 

8. Pledges 

a. with conditional pledges the non profit has to wait until the condition has 

been met to record the revenue 

b. with unconditional pledges, the non profit can recognize the revenue in the 

period the pledge is made 

i. caveat to pledges is that the amount of revenue recorded is the net 

amount of the pledge expected to be collected within one year 

ii. revenue for collections to be made in more than a year are 

recognized at present value as temporarily restricted support 

9. Fundraisers 

a. revenues made from fundraising events is recorded at the gross amount 

10. Memberships 

a. memberships can include both a contribution and service element 



 

80 
By Nate Rivers | Copyright © 2015 accounting101.org 

i. if the non profit provides a service in return for membership fees, 

the membership revenue is recognized over the period that the 

benefits are provided 

ii. any contributions by members are simply recognized as 

contribution revenues in the period they are received 

11. Health Care Non Profits 

a. if the health care organization (HCO) is not-for-profit or private, it follows 

FASB. if the HCO is govermental, it follows GASB 

i. Government Hospital Funds 

1. There will be a ‘general unrestricted fund’, and then there 

can be donor-restricted funds such as special purpose funds 

and endowment funds 

2. governmental hospital statement of cash flows is required to 

use the direct method 

b. A big thing is knowing how to calculate ‘net patient revenues’. the formula 

is 

1. gross patient service revenue 

2. LESS: charity services 

3. LESS: contractual adjustments 

4. LESS: uncollectible accounts 

c. charity care: 

i. these are services given to people that are unable to pay. it was 

never expected to be collected, so it is not revenue, a receivable, or 

bad debt 

d. contractual adjustments 

i. 3rd party payors like Medicare have reimbursement rates based on 

contractual rates, NOT the rates the hospital charges. so a 

contractual adjustment reduces accounts receivable to arrive at the 

amount that the 3rd party payor is actually going to pay the 

hospital. it’s a debit to ‘contractual adjustments’ and a credit to AR 

e. expenses 
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i. expenses are reported by function: 

1. nursing services 

2. other professional services such as labs, radiology 

3. general services such as food 

4. fiscal services 

5. admin services 

6. other services 

12. Colleges and Universities 

a. non profit universities follow FASB, a public university follows 

governmental GASB standards 

b. tuition revenues are recorded at gross less tuition refunds, and are 

reported net of uncollectible accounts and scholarship allowances 

i. a tuition scholarship when there is no intention of collection from 

the student is shown as a reduction of gross revenue. it is not bad 

debt 

ii. remember that tuition will be recognized proportionally- you’ll see 

problems asking you how much should be recognized over certain 

time intervals so read the questions carefully and pay attention to 

the dates in the problems 

c. public universities are a ‘special purpose government’ 

i. money appropriated by the state to the university would be 

classified as ‘non-operating revenue’ because the university is 

engaged in business-type activities 
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Governmental Accounting 

 

1. Introduction 

a. Proceeds from taxation is unique to governments, no other form of 

organization can do this 

b. The primary authoritative body for determining accounting standards for 

governmental funds is the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB) 

c. The primary intended users of governmental financial statements are the 

citizens/taxpayers, school boards, and investors and creditors. Internal 

users are NOT considered primary users 

d. The 2 most important concepts of government financial reporting are: 

i. accountability 

ii. AND interperiod equity 

e. 6 characteristics of effective financial reporting 

i. understandability 

ii. reliability 

iii. relevance 

iv. timeliness 

v. consistency 

vi. comparability 

f. 5 elements of the statement of financial position 

i. assets 

ii. liabilities 

iii. deferred inflow of resources 

iv. deferred outflow of resources 

v. net position (not net assets, not equity) 

g. The legally adopted annual budget has 4 financial reporting implications: 

i. expression of public policy 

ii. expression of financial intent 
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iii. form of control 

iv. may provide basis for evaluating performance 

2. Fund Accounting 

a. A fund is both a fiscal entity and an accounting entity 

b. there are 3 categories of funds: 

i. governmental funds: these accounts for the sources and balances 

of general government financial resources 

ii. proprietary funds: accounts for business-type activities 

iii. fiduciary funds: accounts for resources held by a government as a 

trustee or agent for the benefit others 

c. Governmental funds 

i. general fund: this accounts for everything not required to belong in 

another type of fund 

ii. special revenue funds: these account for revenue sources that are 

restricted or committed to be spent for specific purposes other than 

debt service or capital projects 

iii. capital project funds: funds that are restricted for construction or 

acquisition of capital facilities 

iv. debt service funds: funds restricted or committed for debt service 

principal and interest expenditures 

v. permanent funds: accounts for endowments for which the earnings 

are restricted to support government programs dedicated for a 

public purpose 

d. Proprietary Funds (these are business type funds) 

i. enterprise funds: accounts for business-type activities that the 

public is the primary user of 

ii. internal service funds: business type activities where other 

government agencies are the primary user 

e. Fiduciary Funds (remember fiduciary means money held for others) 

i. pension trust funds: assets held in trust to provide employee 

retirement benefits 
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ii. private purpose trust funds: assets held in trust to benefit 

individuals 

iii. investment trust funds: accounts for assets held in trust for other 

governments 

iv. agency funds: accounts for assets held in a custodial capacity 

3. Basis of Accounting 

a. Modified accrual is a cross between cash basis and accrual basis of 

accounting 

i. revenue is recognized when 

1. it’s measurable or can be reasonably estimated 

2. it’s available 

3. when it’s both measurable and available prior to cash receipt 

ii. the term ‘expenses’ is not used in modified accrual- the term 

‘expenditures’ is used instead 

iii. expenditures are recognized when they are incurred or due to be 

paid from currently available resources in the governmental fund 

b. Governmental accounts use the modified accrual basis of accounting 

c. Proprietary and fiduciary funds use the accrual basis of accounting- you 

can remember this because proprietary and fiduciary funds are more 

similar to regular business entities 

4. Budgetary Accounting 

a. Only certain types of government accounts are budgeted, and therefore 

use budgetary accounting 

i. the general fund is budgeted 

ii. and the special revenue funds are budgeted 

iii. other funds are not usually budgeted 

b. The most important thing to know are the accounts and how they’re used: 

i. ‘estimated revenues’ is the first step in the budgetary process. this 

account has a debit balance. this is the beginning of the budget 

process and is simply the amount of estimated revenue 
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ii. next, they estimate how much of that revenue will be spent, and 

this account is called ‘appropriations. this account has a credit 

balance. so you have estimated revenues and then the estimated 

amount of that revenue that will be spent, and that is called 

appropriations 

iii. next is the ‘estimated other financing sources’ account, and this is a 

debit balance which includes expected inflows that are not 

categorized as revenues 

iv. next is the ‘estimated other financing uses’ account which has a 

credit balance. this estimates other outflows of funds that wouldn’t 

be classified as expenditures, such as transfers to other funds 

v. what’s left over is the ‘budgetary fund balance’. this account doesn’t 

have a normal credit or debit balance, it is debited or credited to 

make the budgetary entry balance 

1. these steps are to setup the budget. there are normally no 

changes to this during the year unless the governing body 

meets and amends the budget or if revenues are much 

different than predicted 

vi. entry to close the budget 

1. in general, the closing entry for the budget is to simply 

reverse the opening entry by now debiting ‘appropriations’ 

and crediting ‘estimated revenues’ 

5. Encumbrance Accounting 

a. appropriations are amounts set aside for certain purposes. an 

‘encumbrance’ is like an appropriation inside an appropriation. if you have 

10,000 appropriated for computer purchases during the year, and then 

you issue a purchase order to actually buy 2,000 worth of computers, you 

would ‘encumber’ 2,000 of the 10,000 appropriation 

b. when the goods are actually received, you reverse the encumbrance and 

record an expenditure 
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c. the amount of an appropriation that is left over after expenditures and any 

encumbrances is called the ‘unencumbered, unexpended appropriation’ 

d. the formula is: 

i. appropriation 

ii. LESS encumbrances 

iii. LESS expenditures 

iv. = unencumbered, unexpended appropriation 

e. REMEMBER: when money from an appropriation is actually going to be 

spent, the first step is an encumbrance (usually initiated with a purchase 

order), when the goods are actually received for that encumbrance, the 

encumbrance is REVERSED and then an expenditure is recorded. so the 

encumbrance is basically turned into an expenditure when the goods are 

received 

i. appropriations are a credit balance 

ii. encumbrances are a debit when recorded (to lower the 

appropriation) 

iii. when encumbrance is reversed it’s credited (to reverse the debit) 

iv. expenditure is a debit 

6. Deferred Outflow/Inflow of Resources 

a. these are a timing issue- they are inflows and outflows of resources in the 

current period that are related to a future period 

b. mainly remember the modified accrual accounting rule of recognizing 

revenue or expenditures when measurable and AVAILABLE. if a 

government will receive $3 million over the next 3 years, only $1 million is 

revenue this year, and the remaining $2 million is a deferred inflow of 

resources 

7. Net Position 

a. after GASB 63, the term ‘net assets’ was replaced with ‘net position’ 

b. net position is the ‘equity’ section of the fund for proprietary and fiduciary 

fund types 

i. there are 3 categories of net position: 
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1. net investment in capital assets (net of accumulated 

depreciation) 

2. restricted 

3. unrestricted 

c. ‘fund balance’: this is the ‘equity’ section for governmental fund types 

i. there are 5 categories of fund balance 

1. non-spendable: not in a spendable form or legally required to 

remain unspent, such as permanent endowments 

2. restricted: reserved for a specific purpose by external parties 

3. committed: constrained by the government’s highest level of 

authority 

4. assigned: intended to be used for a specific purpose but 

doesn’t meet restricted or committed criteria 

5. unassigned: resources available for any purpose 

8. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 

a. This is the big report issued by a government entity 

b. There are 3 main sections: 

i. introductory: org chart, principal officers, etc 

ii. financial: independent auditor’s report, MD&A, basic financial 

statements, combining statements and fund statements 

iii. statistical: financial trends, revenue & debt capacity, operating info 

c. “Basic financial statements’ include: 

i. government-wide financial statements 

ii. AND fund financial statements 

iii. AND the notes to the financial statements 

d. Government-wide financial statements include: 

i. these report information about the government as a whole 

1. includes 2 statements 

a. statement of net position 
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i. this includes a government-wide balance 

sheet, it’s on the accrual basis, and it has 2 

separate columns: 

1. governmental activities 

2. business activities 

3. (does NOT include fiduciary funds) 

ii. ‘net position’ is the last part of this statement 

b. statement of activities 

i. includes a government-wide statement of 

operations 

ii. it’s on the accrual basis 

iii. sections include: 

1. program expenses 

2. program revenues 

3. net program (expense) or revenue 

4. general revenues 

iv. governmental activities and business-type 

activities are separated on the statement 

v. it does NOT include fiduciary funds either 

e. Fund Statements 

i. remember that the ‘government-wide financial statements’ are 

presented on the accrual basis. the fund statements on the other 

hand are presented in their native accounting basis. so, 

1. the governmental fund category statements are presented 

using the modified accrual basis 

2. the proprietary fund category statements (business-type 

funds) are presented on the full accrual basis 

3. the fiduciary fund statements are presented on the full 

accrual basis 

f. Notes  
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i. these are just like the notes in regular financial statements in that 

they provide information and required disclosures, especially a 

‘summary of significant accounting policies’ 

9. Financial Reporting Entity 

a. You might see questions on the ‘financial reporting entity’, which means 

determining a primary government and its component units. 

b. A component unit is a legally separate organization that the primary 

government officials are financially accountable for, OR, the relationship is 

such that leaving it out of the financial statements would be misleading or 

incomplete 

c. Once component units have been identified, there are 2 ways in which the 

component units are reported in the financial statements: 

i. Blended 

1. if the component unit is part of the primary government in 

substance, then the balances for its funds are included with 

similar funds in the primary government, hence, “blended” 

ii. OR, Discretely 

1. for all other component units, a separate column is added to 

the right of the primary government’s data. this is discrete 

presentation 

10. Major Funds 

a. Major funds are funds where total assets and deferred outflow/inflow of 

resources or liabilities revenues or expenditures are at least 10% of the 

total corresponding amount for all funds in that category (governmental, 

enterprise, or fiduciary) 

b. OR 5% of the corresponding amount for that element for all governmental 

AND enterprise funds combined 

c. The general fund is ALWAYS a major fund 

d. Major funds balance sheet: each major fund has its own column, and all 

non-major governmental funds are aggregated into a single column 
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e. Operating statement: again, major funds are in separate columns and 

non-major funds are combined in a single column 

f. Budget comparison 

i. budget-to-actual comparison is required for the general fund, and 

any annually budgeted major special revenue fund 

g. Proprietary fund statements 

i. the required statements are: 

1. statement of net position 

2. statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 

position 

3. statement of cash flows 

4. major fund reporting does not apply to internal service funds 

h. Fiduciary fund statements 

i. the required statements are: 

1. statement of fiduciary net positions 

2. statement of changes in fiduciary net position 

3. fiduciary funds are NEVER major funds 

11. Governmental Funds 

a. The general fund is a required fund. It used modified accrual accounting, 

and uses budgetary and encumbrance accounting 

b. Revenues come from taxes, licenses and permits, charges for services, 

fines 

i. remember that revenue must be measurable and available 

ii. property tax revenues are recorded after they are levied at the 

estimated collectible amount 

c. Expenditures are salaries, operating expenses, capital outlays for 

buildings & improvements, debt service such as principal & interest 

payments 

d. Special revenue funds 

i. they are for revenue sources that are committed to a specific 

purpose other than debt service or a capital project 
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ii. they use modified accrual accounting  

iii. they use budget and encumbrance accounting 

e. Debt service funds 

i. this is for resources used to pay interest and principal on general 

long-term debt 

ii. the life of the fund is tied to the underlying debt 

iii. used the modified accrual basis of accounting 

f. Capital project funds 

i. this is for resources that are restricted for capital outlay for 

buildings, land, or improvements 

ii. uses modified accrual 

g. Permanent funds 

i. resources held in trust by the government for the benefit of the 

government or its citizens 

ii. the principal is required to remain intact 

iii. earnings are transferred to the general fund or to a special revenue 

fund 

12. Proprietary Funds 

a. Again, the 2 types of proprietary fund types are: 

i. Internal service fund 

ii. Enterprise fund 

b. Proprietary funds are business-type funds and use accrual accounting 

c. Internal service funds 

i. these are business type services provided to other entities inside 

the government 

ii. things like central data processing or government fleet 

iii. keyword is ‘internal’ as in ‘internal to the government’ 

d. Enterprise funds 

i. these account for business type services provided to the general 

public like parking lots and public utilities 

e. Statement of cash flows 
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i. Unlike a regular cash flow statement with cash provided by 

operating, investing, and financing activities, a statement of cash 

flows for a proprietary fund has 4 sections: 

1. operating activities 

2. noncapital financing activities 

a. this is debt issued to finance operations 

3. capital and related financing activities 

a. this is debt issued to acquire capital assets 

4. investing activities 

a. (as you can see, the ‘financing’ section is split into 2 

parts) 

13. Fiduciary Funds 

a. 4 types of fiduciary funds 

i. pension trust funds: easy to remember because these are assets 

held in trust for pensions 

ii. investment trust funds: these are funds held in trust for other 

governments 

iii. private purpose trust funds: accounts for resources held in trust for 

the benefit of individuals 

iv. agency funds: assets held briefly and then transferred to other 

funds or individuals 

b. For all of these funds, the government is acting as a trustee and has no 

‘equity’ 

c. Fiduciary funds are NOT included on the government-wide statements 

14. Interfund Transfers 

a. There are 4 types of interfund transactions 

i. Quasi-external transactions: these are business-type transactions 

between funds. These are recorded as revenue and expenditures 

or expenses 

ii. Reimbursements: one fund reimburses another fund. These are 

recorded as an expenditure or expense in the fund giving the 
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reimbursement, and a reduction in expenditure or expense in the 

fund that is reimbursed (NOT revenue) 

iii. Transfers: these are transfers between funds with no repayment 

required 

iv. Loans: amounts between funds that are expected to be repaid. A 

receivable and payable is recorded. “Due” and “due from” is used 

for short term loans, and “advance to” and “advance from” are long 

term loans 

b. Construction projects 

i. accounting for construction projects usually involves several 

entities: 

1. usually the capital projects fund 

2. usually the debt service fund 

3. usually governmental activities 

c. Infrastructure assets 

i. these are things like highways, bridges, streets, sewer systems 

ii. before GASB 34, costs were not reported and they were not 

depreciated 

iii. after GASB 34, the costs are now reported, and the assets are 

depreciated 

1. the government can elect not to depreciate the asset if they 

preserve the asset in a condition equal to or above the 

original condition 

2. expenditures to preserve the asset are expensed in the 

period incurred- this is a substitute for the depreciation 

 

Thanks again for your purchase. If you found these notes helpful, I’d appreciate it if you 

would write a review about how you found them helpful that I can use on my website. 

Just send the review to info@accounting101.org 


